SUPERIOR BANCORP Form 10-Q August 16, 2010

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, DC 20549 FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE OUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED June 30, 2010

OR

O	TRANSITION REPORT PURS	UANT TO SECTION	13 OR 15(d) OF	THE SECURITIES
	<b>EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934</b>			
FOR THE	TRANSITION PERIOD FROM $oldsymbol{\_}$	ТО	<u></u>	

Commission File number 0-25033 Superior Bancorp

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware 63-1201350

(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation)

(IRS Employer Identification No.)

17 North 20th Street, Birmingham, Alabama 35203 (Address of Principal Executive Offices) (205) 327-1400

(Registrant s Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes b No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

Yes o No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated filer o

Smaller reporting company b

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes o No b

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

Class
Common stock, \$.001 par value

Outstanding as of August 13, 2010 12,560,457

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Financial Statements	3
Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of	
<u>Operations</u>	32
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	65
Controls and Procedures	66
OTHER INFORMATION	
<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	67
Risk Factors	67
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	75
<u>Defaults Upon Senior Securities</u>	76
Other Information	76
<u>Exhibits</u>	76
	77
2	
	Financial Statements Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk Controls and Procedures  OTHER INFORMATION Legal Proceedings Risk Factors Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds Defaults Upon Senior Securities Other Information Exhibits

# SUPERIOR BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION (UNAUDITED) (Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

	June 30, 2010	Γ	December 31, 2009
ASSETS	2010		2009
Cash and due from banks	\$ 54,648	\$	74,020
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks	245,182	Ψ	23,714
Federal funds sold	1,328		2,036
Total cash and cash equivalents	301,158		99,770
Investment securities available-for-sale	269,943		286,310
Tax lien certificates	18,820		19,292
Mortgage loans held-for-sale	54,823		71,879
Loans, net of unearned income	2,482,560		2,472,697
Allowance for loan losses	(79,425)		(41,884)
Net loans	2,403,135		2,430,813
Premises and equipment, net	102,765		104,022
Accrued interest receivable	15,168		15,581
Stock in FHLB	18,212		18,212
Cash surrender value of life insurance	50,792		50,142
Core deposit and other intangible assets	14,746		16,694
Other real estate	45,184		41,618
Other assets	63,589		67,536
Total assets	\$3,358,335	\$	3,221,869
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS E	QUITY		
Deposits:			
Noninterest-bearing	\$ 275,712	\$	257,744
Interest-bearing	2,562,809		2,398,829
Total deposits	2,838,521		2,656,573
Advances from FHLB	216,324		218,322
Security repurchase agreements	762		841
Notes payable	45,150		45,917
Subordinated debentures, net	81,196		84,170
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	27,068		24,342
Total liabilities	3,209,021		3,030,165
Commitments and contingencies			
Stockholders equity:			
Preferred stock, par value \$.001 per share; shares authorized 5,000,000:			
Series B, cumulative convertible preferred stock, 111 and -0- shares issued and			
outstanding as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively			

Series C, cumulative convertible preferred stock, 3 and -0- shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively Common stock, par value \$.001 per share; shares authorized 200,000,000; shares issued 12,560,457 and 11,673,837, respectively; outstanding 12,560,457 and 11,667,794, respectively 12 13 Surplus preferred 10,888 8,646 warrants 9,827 common 325,159 322,043 Accumulated deficit (191,250)(130,889)Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5,136)(7,825)Unearned ESOP stock (174)(263)Unearned restricted stock (13)(20)Total stockholders equity 191,704 149,314

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

\$

3,221,869

\$3,358,335

Total liabilities and stockholders equity

3

# SUPERIOR BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED) (Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

	For Three Mor June 2010	ths Ended	For Six Montl June 2010	hs Ended
Interest in some	2010	2009	2010	2009
Interest income:	¢ 26 212	¢ 25.050	¢ 72.554	¢ 70.011
Interest and fees on loans	\$ 36,212	\$ 35,959	\$ 72,554	\$ 70,911
Interest on taxable securities	2,625 314	3,778	5,536	7,787 863
Interest on tax-exempt securities Interest on federal funds sold	2	434 2	626 3	803 7
			-	
Interest and dividends on other investments	393	456	765	818
Total interest income	39,546	40,629	79,484	80,386
Interest expense:				
Interest on deposits	11,452	14,109	22,977	29,002
Interest on other borrowed funds	2,542	2,597	5,064	4,938
Interest on subordinated debentures	2,399	1,206	4,785	2,400
Total interest expense	16,393	17,912	32,826	36,340
Net interest income	23,153	22,717	46,658	44,046
Provision for loan losses	50,363	5,982	59,490	9,434
Net interest (loss) income after provision for loan				
losses	(27,210)	16,735	(12,832)	34,612
Noninterest income:	( ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' '	-,	( ) /	- ,-
Service charges and fees on deposits	2,335	2,524	4,551	4,911
Mortgage banking income	2,667	2,271	4,677	3,961
Investment securities gains (losses)	,	,	,	,
Gain on sale of securities	1,858		1,858	
Total other-than-temporary impairment losses (OTTI)	(683)	(6,685)	(883)	(17,189)
Portion of OTTI recognized in other comprehensive loss	181	904	183	5,563
	1.056	(5.701)	1 150	(11.606)
Investment securities gains (losses)	1,356	(5,781)	1,158	(11,626)
Change in fair value of derivatives	(239)	(67)	(29)	(266)
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance	558	540	1,126	1,055
Gain on exchange of subordinated debt for common	507		507	
stock	507	1 240	507	0.557
Other income	1,344	1,340	2,750	2,557
Total noninterest income	8,528	827	14,740	592
Noninterest expenses:				_
Salaries and employee benefits	13,840	12,304	28,040	24,613
Occupancy, furniture and equipment	4,850	4,503	9,613	8,919
Amortization of core deposit intangibles	869	985	1,739	1,971

FDIC assessments Foreclosure losses Other expenses	1,853 3,358 6,763	1,932 1,748 6,323	3,233 5,935 12,782	2,389 2,317 11,650
Total noninterest expenses	31,533	27,795	61,342	51,859
Loss before income taxes Income tax expense (benefit)	(50,215) 3,507	(10,233) (4,539)	(59,434) 28	(16,655) (7,387)
Net loss Preferred stock dividends and amortization	(53,722) (899)	(5,694) (1,167)	(59,462) (899)	(9,268) (2,310)
Net loss applicable to common stockholders	\$ (54,621)	\$ (6,861)	\$ (60,361)	\$ (11,578)
Weighted average common shares outstanding Weighted average common shares outstanding,	12,305	10,071	11,977	10,062
assuming dilution	12,305	10,071	11,977	10,062
Basic net loss per common share	\$ (4.44)	\$ (0.68)	\$ (5.04)	\$ (1.15)
Diluted net loss per common share	\$ (4.44)	\$ (0.68)	\$ (5.04)	\$ (1.15)
See Notes to Condensed Con	solidated Finan	cial Statements.		
	4			

# SUPERIOR BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

# (Dollars in thousands)

Accumu	lated
--------	-------

												A		Other <b>U</b>		Иn	onn	٠.A	Total	
1	Prefer	Gados	<b></b>			Cum	mluc			10	aumi	പംബ							i otai ockholders	~
J	rreiei	CCUIII	110	11		Sur	plus			AC	Cuiiii	natea	_	_	VESUE	Nes	urcu		ckiioiuers	•
	Stoo	l. Cto.	alz	Duof	nnod'	Worr	onto	Com	mon		Defi	oit		(Loss) Gain	Stock	C	tock		Fanity	
Balance at	Stoc	KSto	CK	Prei	errea	wari	rants	Com	шоп		Den	CIL		Gain	Stock	3	tock		Equity	
December 31, 2009	\$	\$ 1	12	¢		¢ 0 .	616	\$ 322	0.42	Φ	(120	000)	Φ	(7.925)	\$ (262	\ <b>¢</b>	(20)	<b>ν</b> Φ	101 704	
		φі	lΖ	Ф		ΦО,	040	φ <i>32</i> 2	2,043	Ф	(130	,009)	Ф	(7,823)	\$ (203	<i>)</i> Þ	(20	) ф	191,704	
Comprehensive	•																			
loss:											(50	160							(50, 460)	
Net loss											(59	,462)							(59,462)	
Other																				
comprehensive																				
gain, net of tax																				
expense of																				
\$1.6 million																				
unrealized gain	!																			
on securities																				
available for																				
sale, arising																				
during the																				
period, net of																				
reclassification														2.700					2.700	
adjustment														2,780					2,780	
Change in																				
accumulated lo	SS																			
on cash flow																				
hedging																				
instrument, net																				
of tax benefit o	Ī													(01)					(01)	
\$56														(91)					(91)	
C																				
Comprehensive	2																		(5 ( 772)	
loss																			(56,773)	
Cumulative																				
preferred stock																				
dividend, net of	[				710							(000)							(101)	
amortization					718							(899)							(181)	
Exchange of																				
trust preferred																				
debt for 849,15	O																			
shares of																			2 00 4	
common stock			1					,	2,883										2,884	
									162										162	

Compensation									
expense related									
to stock options									
Issuance of 111									
shares Series B									
preferred stock									
and 792,859									
warrants			9,887	1,164					11,051
Issuance of 3									
shares Series C									
preferred stock									
and 21,429									
warrants			283	17					300
Amortization of									
unearned									
restricted stock								7	7
Issuance of									
43,507 shares									
related to board									
compensation					155				155
Release of 1,969									
shares by ESOP					(84)		89		5
Balance at									
June 30, 2010	\$ \$	13	\$ 10,888	\$ 9,827	\$ 325,159				\$ 149,314

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

5

# SUPERIOR BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW (UNAUDITED) (Dollars in thousands)

	Six Montl June	
	2010	2009
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	\$ 30,260	\$ (71,019)
Investing activities		
Proceeds from sales of investment securities available-for-sale	89,130	
Proceeds from maturities of investment securities available-for-sale	49,458	40,602
Purchase of investment securities available-for-sale	(117,055)	(11,683)
Net increase in loans	(52,856)	(110,932)
Redemptions of tax lien certificates	9,171	18,582
Purchase of tax lien certificates	(8,699)	(20,329)
Purchase of premises and equipment	(2,313)	(5,295)
Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment		338
Proceeds from sale of foreclosed assets	13,962	5,673
Decrease in stock of FHLB		3,198
Net cash used in investing activities	(19,202)	(79,846)
Financing activities		
Net increase in deposits	181,873	261,784
Decrease in FHLB advances	(1,998)	(134,493)
Proceeds from note payable		38,575
Principal payment on note payable	(1,000)	
Net decrease in other borrowed funds	(138)	
Proceeds from exchange of subordinated debt for common stock	193	
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock	11,400	
Cash dividends paid		(1,534)
Net cash provided by financing activities	190,330	164,332
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	201,388	13,467
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	99,770	89,448
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 301,158	\$ 102,915

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

6

# NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

# Note 1 Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the instructions for Form 10-Q, and therefore, do not include all information and footnotes necessary for a fair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. For a summary of significant accounting policies that have been consistently followed, see Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Superior Bancorp s (the Corporation s) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009. It is management s opinion that all adjustments, consisting of only normal and recurring items necessary for a fair presentation, have been included in these condensed consolidated financial statements. Operating results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2010.

The Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2009, presented herein has been derived from the financial statements audited by Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered public accountants, as indicated in their report, dated March 11, 2010, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements.

# Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made in the previously reported financial statements and accompanying notes to make the prior year amounts comparable to those of the current year. Such reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net income or stockholders equity.

# **Note 2** Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 860 - Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets (Topic 860). Topic 860 is a revision to preceding guidance and requires more information about transfers of financial assets, including securitization transactions, and where entities have continuing exposure to the risks related to transferred financial assets. It eliminates the concept of a qualifying special purpose entity, changes the requirements for derecognizing financial assets, and requires additional disclosures.

In December 2009, the FASB issued *Accounting Standards Update (ASU)* No. 2009-16 Transfers and Servicing Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets (ASU 2009-16). ASU 2009-16 formally codifies FASB Statement No. 166, Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets and provides a revision for Topic 860 to require more information about transfers of financial assets. Topic 860 and ASU 2009-16 became effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning January 1, 2010. The adoption of this statement and update did not have a material impact on the Corporation s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2009, FASB issued ASU No. 2009-17 Consolidation Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest Entities ( ASU 2009-17 ). ASU 2009-17 amends the consolidation guidance applicable to variable interest entities. The amendments to the consolidation guidance affect all entities, as well as qualifying special-purpose entities that were previously excluded from previous consolidation guidance. ASU 2009-17 became effective as of the beginning of the first annual reporting period that began after November 15, 2009. The adoption of ASU 2009-17 did not have a significant impact on the Corporation s ongoing financial position or results of operations.

In January 2010, FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements ( ASU 2010-06 ). ASU 2010-06 amends Subtopic 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, that require new disclosures for transfers in and out of Levels 1 and 2, and for activity in Level 3 fair value measurements. In addition, ASU 2010-06 provides amendments that clarify existing disclosures relating to the level of disaggregation and inputs and valuation techniques. Fair value measurement disclosures should be provided for each class of assets and liabilities, and disclosures should be made about the valuation techniques and inputs used to measure fair value for both recurring and nonrecurring measurements that fall in either Level 2 or Level 3. The new disclosures and clarification of existing disclosures are effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009. The Corporation adopted these disclosure requirements of ASU 2010-06 as of

January 1, 2010. The adoption of ASU 2010-06 did not have an impact to the Corporation s financial position, results of operations or cash flows (see Note 11). The disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the roll-forward activity of activity in the Level 3 fair value measurements will become effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010, and for interim periods within those fiscal years.

7

In June 2010, FASB issued ASU No. 2010-20 Receivables (Topic 310) Disclosures about the Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credit Losses (ASU 2010-20). ASU 2010-20 was issued to create greater transparency and help financial users assess an entity scredit risk exposure and its allowance for credit losses. ASU 2010-20 requires an entity to provide a greater level of disaggregated information about the credit quality of its financing receivables and its allowance for credit losses. In addition, an entity will be required to disclose credit quality indicators, past due information and modifications of its financing receivables. The new disclosure requirements will become effective for periods ending on or after December 15, 2010. The adoption of ASU 2010-20 will not have an impact on the Corporation songoing financial position or results of operations.

## **Note 3** Investment Securities

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of investment securities as of June 30, 2010 are shown below:

	Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains (Dollars in	Gross Unrealized Losses n thousands)	Estimated Fair Value
Investment securities available-for-sale				
U.S. Agency securities	\$ 18,277	\$ 342	\$	\$ 18,619
Mortgage-backed securities ( MBS ):				
U.S. Agency pass-through	109,180	3,249	7	112,422
U.S. Agency collateralized mortgage obligation				
(CMO)	82,941	1,513		84,454
Private-label CMO	17,076	296	2,716	14,656
Total MBS	209,197	5,058	2,723	211,532
State, county and municipal securities	30,493	430	262	30,661
Corporate obligations:				
Corporate debt	4,101		101	4,000
Pooled trust preferred securities	8,288		5,025	3,263
Single issue trust preferred securities	5,000		3,245	1,755
Total corporate obligations	17,389		8,371	9,018
<b>Equity securities</b>	113			113
Total investment securities available-for-sale	\$ 275,469	\$ 5,830	\$ 11,356	\$ 269,943

Investment securities with an amortized cost of \$264.9 million as of June 30, 2010 were pledged to secure public funds and for other purposes as required or permitted by law.

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of investment securities as of June 30, 2010, by contractual maturity, are shown below. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

	Securities Available-for-Sale				
	Amortized		Es	<b>Estimated</b>	
	(	Fai	ir Value		
	(	<b>Dollars</b> in	thousa	ands)	
Due in one year or less	\$	285	\$	287	
Due after one year through five years		6,970		6,909	
Due after five years through ten years		23,130		23,562	

Due after ten years	35,887	27,652
Mortgage-backed securities	209,197	211,533

\$ 275,469 \$ 269,943

During the three months ended June 30, 2010, the Corporation sold certain U.S. Agency securities and U.S Agency MBS with combined amortized cost and market values of \$87.4 million and \$89.1 million, respectively. The Corporation reinvested a portion of the proceeds into a like amount of U. S Agency MBS guaranteed by the Government National Mortgage Association ( Ginnie Mae ). This repositioning reduced the duration of the portfolio and improved risk-based capital. The Corporation realized a net gain of approximately \$1.7 million. A portion of these securities had impairment losses of approximately \$0.2 million, which the Corporation realized in the three months ended March 31, 2010.

8

# **Table of Contents**

The following table summarizes the investment securities with unrealized losses as of June 30, 2010 by aggregated major security type and length of time in a continuous unrealized loss position:

	Less than 12 Months Fair Unrealized		More than Fair	n 12 Months Unrealized	Total Fair Unrealized		
	Value	Losses (1)	Value (Dollars in	Losses (1) thousands)	Value	Losses (1)	
Temporarily Impaired Mortgage-backed securities: U.S. Agency pass-through Private-label CMO	\$ 23	\$	\$ 240 6,338	\$ 7 1,096	\$ 263 6,338	\$ 7 1,096	
Total MBS State, county and	23		6,578	1,103	6,601	1,103	
municipal securities Corporate obligations:	5,585	116	1,602	146	7,187	262	
Corporate debt Single issue trust preferred			4,000	101	4,000	101	
securities			1,755	3,245	1,755	3,245	
Total corporate obligations			5,755	3,346	5,755	3,346	
Total temporarily impaired securities  Other-than-temporarily  Impaired  Mortgage-backed	5,608	116	13,935	4,595	19,543	4,711	
securities: Private-label CMO Corporate obligations:			3,021	1,620	3,021	1,620	
Pooled trust preferred securities			3,263	5,025	3,263	5,025	
<b>Total OTTI securities</b>			6,284	6,645	6,284	6,645	
Total temporarily and other-than-temporarily impaired	\$5,608	\$116	\$20,219	\$11,240	\$25,827	\$11,356	

(1) Unrealized losses are included in other comprehensive loss, net of unrealized gains

and applicable income taxes.

9

# **Table of Contents**

The following is a summary of the total count by category of investment securities with gross unrealized losses as of June 30, 2010:

	Less than 12	Greater Than	
	Months	12 Months	Total
Temporarily Impaired			
Mortgage-backed securities:			
U.S. Agency pass-through	1	1	2 5
Private-label CMO		5	5
Total MBS	1	6	7
State, county and municipal securities	15	6	21
Corporate obligations:			
Corporate debt		3	3
Single issue trust preferred securities		1	1
Total corporate obligations		4	4
Total temporarily impaired securities	16	16	32
Other-than-temporarily Impaired			
Mortgage-backed securities:			
Private-label CMO		1	1
Corporate obligations:			
Pooled trust preferred securities		4	4
Total OTTI securities		5	5
Total temporarily and other-than-temporarily impaired	16	21	37
10			

### **Table of Contents**

## Other-Than-Temporary Impairment (OTTI)

Management evaluates securities for OTTI at least on a quarterly basis. The investment securities portfolio is evaluated for OTTI by segregating the portfolio into the various segments outlined in the tables above and applying the appropriate OTTI model. Investment securities classified as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity are generally evaluated for OTTI according to ASC 320-10 guidance. In addition, certain purchased beneficial interests, which may include private-label MBS, asset-backed securities and collateralized debt obligations that had credit ratings of below AA at the time of purchase are evaluated using the model outlined in ASC 325-40 guidance.

In determining OTTI according to FASB guidance, management considers many factors, including: (1) the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, (2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, (3) whether the market decline was affected by macroeconomic conditions and (4) whether we have the intent to sell the debt security or more likely than not will be required to sell the debt security before its anticipated recovery. The assessment of whether an other-than-temporary decline exists involves a high degree of subjectivity and judgment and is based on the information available to management at a point in time.

The pooled trust preferred segment of the portfolio uses the OTTI guidance that is specific to purchased beneficial interests that, on the purchase date, were rated below AA. Under the model, we compare the present value of the remaining cash flows as estimated at the preceding evaluation date to the current expected remaining cash flows. An OTTI is deemed to have occurred if there has been an adverse change in the remaining expected future cash flows. When OTTI occurs under either model, the amount of the OTTI recognized in earnings depends on whether an entity intends to sell the security or it is more likely than not it will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, less any current-period credit loss. If an entity intends to sell, or more likely than not will be required to sell, the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, less any current-period credit loss, the OTTI is recognized in earnings at an amount equal to the entire difference between the investment s amortized cost basis and its fair value at the balance sheet date. If an entity does not intend to sell the security and it is not more likely than not that the entity will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis less any current-period loss, the OTTI is separated into the amount representing the credit loss and the amount related to all other factors. The amount of the total OTTI related to the credit loss is determined based on the present value of cash flows expected to be collected and is recognized in earnings. The amount of the total OTTI related to other factors is recognized in other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes. The previous amortized cost basis less the OTTI recognized in earnings becomes the new amortized cost basis of the investment.

As of June 30, 2010, our securities portfolio consisted of 204 securities, 37 of which were in an unrealized loss position. The majority of unrealized losses are related to our private-label CMOs and trust preferred securities, as discussed below.

11

## Mortgage-backed securities

As of June 30, 2010, approximately 93% of the dollar volume of mortgage-backed securities we held were issued by U.S. government-sponsored entities and agencies, primarily the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac) and Ginnie Mae, institutions which the government has affirmed its commitment to support, and these securities have nominal unrealized losses. Our MBS portfolio also includes 10 private-label CMOs with a market value of \$14.7 million, which had net unrealized losses of approximately \$2.4 million as of June 30, 2010. These private-label CMOs were rated AAA at purchase. The following is a summary of the investment grades for these securities (Dollars in thousands):

Rating Moody/Fitch	Count	Credit Support Coverage Ratios (1)	Uni (1	Net ealized Loss) Gain
A1/NR	1	3.06	\$	(152)
Aaa/NR	1	4.25		
NR/AAA	1	3.05		110
NR/AA	1	3.12		(240)
B2/AA	1	N/A		(548)
B2/NR	1	4.02		(92)
NR/BBB	1	2.39		(64)
Caa2/CCC (2)	1	0.91		(1,620)
NR/C (2)	2	0.00-0.30		186
Total	10		\$	(2,420)

(1) The Credit Support Coverage Ratio is the ratio that determines the multiple of credit support, and it is based on assumptions for the performance of the loans within the delinquency pipeline. The assumptions used are: Current Collateral Support/ ((60 day delinquencies

x.60) + (90 day

delinquencies x.70) + (foreclosures x 1.00) + (other real estate x 1.00)) x .40 for loss severity.

(2) Includes all private-label CMOs that have OTTI (see discussion below).

During the first quarter of 2010, the Corporation recognized an immaterial amount of OTTI on one of the private-label CMOs. The assumptions used in the valuation model include expected future default rates, loss severity and prepayments. The model also takes into account the structure of the security, including credit support. Based on these assumptions, the model calculates and projects the timing and amount of interest and principal payments expected for the security. As of June 30, 2010, the fair values of the three private-label CMO securities with OTTI totaling \$3.9 million were measured using Level 3 inputs because the market for them has become illiquid, as indicated by few, if any, trades during the period. The discount rates used in the valuation model were based on a yield that the market would require for securities with maturities and risk characteristics similar to the securities being measured (See Note 12 for additional disclosure). The following table provides additional information regarding these CMO valuations as of June 30, 2010 (Dollars in thousands):

		Discount					Ye	ar-to-Da	te
		Margin				Actual		OTTI	
	Price	Basis		Cumulative	Average	60+ Days	Credit		
Security	(%)	<b>Points</b>	Yield	Default	Security	Delinquent	Portion	Other	Total
CMO 1	19.13	1684	18%	51.87%	50%	7.52%	\$	\$	\$
CMO 2	19.27	1586	17%	48.73%	45%	27.89%			
CMO 4	60.41	1472	17%	29.03%	45%	16.48%	(21)	(2)	(23)
							\$ (21)	\$ (2)	\$ (23)

During the first quarter of 2010, CMO 3, which had a nominal remaining amortized cost, was completely written off. The Corporation does not expect to recover any future cash flows from CMO 3.

As of June 30, 2010, management did not intend to sell these securities, nor did management believe that it is more likely than not that the Corporation will be required to sell the securities before the entire amortized cost basis is recovered.

12

### **Table of Contents**

## State, county and municipal securities

The unrealized losses in the municipal securities portfolio are primarily a reflection of changes in interest rates. This portfolio segment was not experiencing any credit problems as of June 30, 2010. We believe that all contractual cash flows will be received on this portfolio.

As of June 30, 2010, management did not intend to sell these securities, nor was it more likely than not that we will be required to sell the securities before the entire amortized cost basis is recovered since our current financial condition, including liquidity and interest rate risk, is not expected to require such action.

# Trust preferred securities

The Corporation s investment portfolio includes four collateralized debt obligations (CDOs), the collateral of which is pooled trust preferred securities of various financial institutions. The Corporation also owns a single issuer s trust preferred security. The Corporation determined the fair value of the CDOs with the assistance of an external valuation firm. The valuation was accomplished by evaluating all relevant credit and structural aspects of the CDOs, determining appropriate performance assumptions and performing a discounted cash flow analysis. The valuation was structured as follows:

Detailed credit and structural evaluation for each piece of collateral in the CDO;

Collateral performance projections for each piece of collateral in the CDO (default, recovery and prepayment/amortization probabilities);

Terms of the CDO structure, as laid out in the indenture;

The cash flow waterfall (for both interest and principal);

Overcollateralization and interest coverage tests;

Events of default/liquidation;

Mandatory auction call;

Optional redemption;

Hedge agreements; and

Discounted cash flow modeling.

On the basis of the evaluation of collateral credit and in combination with a review of historical industry default data and current/near-term operating conditions, appropriate default and recovery probabilities are determined for each piece of collateral in the CDO; specifically, the Corporation estimates the probability that a given piece of collateral will default in any given year. Next, on the basis of credit factors like asset quality and leverage, the Corporation formulates a recovery assumption for each piece of collateral in the event of a default. For collateral that has already defaulted, the Corporation assumes no recovery. For collateral that is deferring, the Corporation assumes a recovery rate of 10%. It is also noted that there is a possibility, in some cases, that deferring collateral will become current at some point in the future. As a result, deferring issuers are evaluated on a case-by-case basis and in some instances, based on an analysis of the credit, the Corporation assigns a probability that the deferral will ultimately cure. The base-case collateral-specific assumptions are aggregated into cumulative weighted-average default, recovery and prepayment probabilities. In light of generally weakening collateral credit performance and a challenging U.S. credit and real estate environment, our assumptions generally imply a larger amount of collateral defaults during the next three years than that which has been experienced historically and a gradual leveling off of defaults thereafter. The discount rates used to determine fair value are intended to reflect the uncertainty inherent in the projection of each CDO s cash flows. Therefore, spreads were chosen that are comparable to spreads observed currently in the market for

similarly rated instruments, and those spreads are intended to reflect general market discounts currently applied to structured credit products. The discount rates used to determine the credit portion of the OTTI are equal to the current yield on the issuances as prescribed under ASC 325-40.

13

# **Table of Contents**

The following tables provide various information and fair value model assumptions regarding our CDOs as of June 30, 2010 (Dollars in thousands):

<b>Date</b>
ry-impairment
Total
\$
7) (137)
(24)
4) (96)
1) \$ (257)
r

	Lowest	Performing	Original Collateral - Percent of Actual Deferrals and	Performing Collateral - Percent of Expected Deferrals and	Excess Subordination
Name	Rating	Banks	Defaults	Defaults	(2)
MM Caps Funding I Ltd	Ca	21	21%	19%	0%
MM Community Funding					
Ltd	Ca	8	21%	43%	0%
Preferred Term Securities					
V	Ba3	2	4%	26%	0%
Tpref Funding III Ltd	Ca	22	28%	25%	0%
Emigrant Capital Trust (1)	NR	NA	NA	NA	NA

Name	Fair Value (Price to Par)	Discount Margin (Basis Points)	Yield (Basis Points)
MM Caps Funding I Ltd	\$ 44.85	Swap + 1700	9.48% Fixed
MM Community Funding Ltd	14.40	LIBOR + 1500	LIBOR $+310$
Preferred Term Securities V	31.52	LIBOR + 1400	LIBOR $+210$
Tpref Funding III Ltd	28.14	LIBOR + 1200	LIBOR $+ 190$
Emigrant Capital Trust (1)	35.10	LIBOR + 1312	LIBOR $+200$

(1) There has been no notification of deferral or default on this issue. An

analysis of the company, including discussion with its management, indicates there is adequate capital and liquidity to service the debt. The discount margin of 1312 basis points was derived from implied credit spreads from certain publicly traded trust preferred securities within the issuers peer group.

(2) Excess subordination represents the additional defaults in excess of both the current and projected defaults the issue can absorb before the security experiences any credit

impairment.

Excess

subordination is

calculated by

determining

what level of

defaults an issue

can experience

before the

security has any

credit

impairment and

then subtracting

both the current

and projected future defaults.

In April 2009, management received notification that interest payments related to New South Capital would be deferred for up to 20 quarters. In addition, New South Capital s external auditor issued a going concern opinion on May 2, 2009. Management determined that there was not sufficient positive evidence that this issue would ever pay principal or interest. Therefore, OTTI was recognized on the full amount of the \$5.0 million New South Capital Trust Preferred security during the first quarter of 2009. In December 2009, the banking subsidiary of New South Capital was closed by its regulator and placed into receivership.

In addition to the impact of interest rates, the estimated fair values of these CDOs have been and continue to be depressed due to the unusual credit conditions that the financial industry has faced since the middle of 2008 and a weakening economy, which has severely reduced the demand for these securities and rendered their trading market inactive.

As of June 30, 2010, management did not intend to sell these securities, nor did management believe it is more likely than not that the Corporation will be required to sell the securities before the entire amortized cost basis is recovered.

14

### **Table of Contents**

The following table provides a roll-forward of the amount of credit-related losses recognized in earnings for which a portion of OTTI has been recognized in other comprehensive income for the period shown:

	For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2010	M F June	the Six Ionths Ended
	,	s in thous	
Balance at beginning of period Amounts related to credit losses for which an OTTI was not previously	\$ 8,886	\$	8,869
recognized	450		604
Increases in credit loss for which an OTTI was previously recognized when the investor does not intend to sell the security and it is not more likely than not that the entity will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized			
cost	51		97
Reductions for securities where there is an intent to sell or requirement to sell			(154)
Reductions for increases in cash flows expected to be collected	(13)		(42)
Balance at end of period	\$ 9,374	\$	9,374

Management will continue to evaluate the investment ratings in the securities portfolio, severity in pricing declines, market price quotes along with timing and receipt of amounts contractually due. Based upon these and other factors, the securities portfolio may experience further impairment.

# Stock in the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (FHLB Atlanta)

As of June 30, 2010, the Corporation has stock in FHLB Atlanta totaling \$18.2 million (its par value), which is presented separately on the face of the statement of financial condition. There is no ready market for the stock and no quoted market values, as only member institutions are eligible to be shareholders and all transactions are, by charter, to take place at par with FHLB Atlanta as the only purchaser. Therefore, the Corporation accounts for this investment as a long-term asset and carries it at cost. Management reviews this stock quarterly for impairment and conducts its analysis in accordance with ASC 942-325-35-3.

Management s determination as to whether this investment is impaired is based on management s assessment of the ultimate recoverability of its par value (cost) rather than recognizing temporary declines in its value. The determination of whether the decline affects the ultimate recoverability of our investment is influenced by available information regarding criteria such as:

the significance of the decline in net assets of FHLB Atlanta as compared to the capital stock amount for FHLB Atlanta and the length of time this decline has persisted;

commitments by FHLB Atlanta to make payments required by law or regulation and the level of such payments in relation to the operating performance of FHLB Atlanta;

the impact of legislative and regulatory changes on financial institutions and, accordingly, on the customer base of FHLB Atlanta; and

the liquidity position of FHLB Atlanta.

Management has reviewed publicly available information regarding the financial condition of FHLB Atlanta and concluded that no impairment existed based on its assessment of the ultimate recoverability of the par value of the

investment. FHLB Atlanta reported net income of \$48 million for the first quarter of 2010, an increase of approximately \$50 million from a net loss of approximately \$2 million for the first quarter of 2009. On May 11, 2010, FHLB Atlanta announced the approval of an annualized dividend rate for the first quarter of 2010 of 0.26% compared to no dividends in the first quarter of 2009. During the second quarter of 2009, FHLB Atlanta reinstated its dividend at rates of 0.84%, 0.41% and 0.27%, for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2009, respectively, resulting in an annualized dividend rate of 0.38%. The Board of FHLB Atlanta made a decision to retain a larger portion of earnings and significantly higher capital ratios than in previous years. On the basis of a review of the financial condition, cash flow, liquidity and asset quality indicators of FHLB Atlanta as of the end of the first quarter of 2010, management has concluded that no impairment exists on the Corporation s investment in the stock of FHLB Atlanta. This is a long-term investment that serves a business purpose of enabling us to enhance the liquidity of the Corporation s subsidiary, Superior Bank, through access to the lending facilities of FHLB Atlanta. For the foregoing reasons, management believes that FHLB Atlanta s current position does not indicate that the Corporation s investment will not be recoverable at par, the cost, and thus the investment was not impaired as of June 30, 2010.

15

#### **Note 4** Allowance For Loan Losses

The following tables show the provision for loan losses, gross and net charge-offs, and the level of allowance for loan losses that resulted from our ongoing assessment of the loan portfolio for the periods indicated:

	F	For The Three Months Ended		s Ended	For The Six Months End		
	J	June 30, 2010	J	une 30, 2009	June 30, 2010	June 30, 2009	
			(D	ollars in tho	usands)		
Beginning allowance for loan losses	\$	43,190	\$	29,870	\$ 41,884	\$ 28,850	
Provision for loan losses		50,363		5,982	59,490	9,434	
Total charge-offs		14,633		2,513	22,720	5,322	
Total recoveries		(505)		(165)	(771)	(542)	
Net charge-offs		14,128		2,348	21,949	4,780	
Ending allowance for loan losses	\$	79,425	\$	33,504	\$ 79,425	\$ 33,504	
Total loans, net of unearned income	\$ 2	,482,560	\$ 2	,398,471			
Allowance for loan losses to total loans, net of unearned income		3.20%		1.40%			

During the second quarter of 2010, the Corporation experienced (1) a migration of performing classified loans into non-performing status, (2) an increase in troubled debt restructurings ( TDRs ) resulting from workout activity, and (3) an increase in collateral impairments relative to other external factors such as short sales and deteriorated values in comparable properties. These factors created the need for increased loan loss provision during the second quarter of 2010. In addition, management increased the general allowance for loan losses to account for the estimated increase in losses related to the recent oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico. The historical loss ratio used to estimate the allowance for loan losses also increased significantly during the second quarter of 2010. This ratio is based on a four-quarter rolling average and has been affected by the level of charge-offs during 2010.

## Note 5 Notes Payable

The following is a summary of notes payable as of June 30, 2010 (Dollars in thousands):

)

Total notes payable \$45,150

On June 30, 2010, the Corporation entered into an amended agreement related to the \$7.0 million line of credit, which required that the Corporation make a contemporaneous principal payment of \$1.0 million and two additional principal payments of not less than \$33,000 on July 15, 2010 and August 15, 2010. The Corporation made two principal payments, each in the amount of \$33,000, on July 15, 2010 and August 12, 2010.

The Corporation has agreed to seek OTS approval before incurring any new debt or renewing any existing debt.

# **Note 6** Derivative Financial Instruments

The fair value of derivative positions outstanding is included in other assets and other liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of financial condition and in the net change in each of these financial statement line items in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of cash flows.

The Corporation utilizes interest rate swaps, forward commitments, caps and floors to mitigate exposure to interest rate risk and to facilitate the needs of its customers. The Corporation s objectives for utilizing these derivative instruments are described below:

## **Interest Rate Swaps**

The Corporation has entered into interest rate swaps ( CD swaps ) to convert the fixed rate paid on brokered certificates of deposit ( CDs ) to a variable rate based upon three-month London Interbank Offered Rate ( LIBOR ). As of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the Corporation had \$0.7 million in notional amount of CD swaps which had not been designated as hedges. These CD swaps had not been designated as hedges because they represent the portion of the interest rate swaps that are over-hedged due to principal reductions on the brokered CDs.

The Corporation has entered into certain interest rate swaps on commercial loans that are not designated as hedging instruments. These derivative contracts relate to transactions in which the Corporation enters into an interest rate swap with a loan customer while at the same time entering into an offsetting interest rate swap with another financial institution. In connection with each swap transaction, the Corporation agrees to pay interest to the customer on a notional amount at a variable interest rate and receive interest from the customer on a similar notional amount at a fixed interest rate. At the same time, the Corporation agrees to pay another financial institution the same fixed interest rate on the same notional amount and receive the same variable interest rate on the same notional amount. The transaction allows the Corporation s customer to effectively convert a variable rate loan to a fixed rate. Because the Corporation acts as an intermediary for its customer, changes in the fair value of the underlying derivative contracts offset each other, for the most part, and do not significantly impact the Corporation s results of operations.

16

# **Table of Contents**

## Fair Value Hedges

As of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the Corporation had \$2.8 million in notional amount of CD swaps designated and qualified as fair value hedges. These CD swaps were designated as hedging instruments to hedge the risk of changes in the fair value of the underlying brokered CD due to changes in interest rates. As of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the amount of CD swaps designated as hedging instruments had a recorded fair value of \$0.3 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, and a weighted average life of 2.2 years and 2.5 years, respectively. The weighted average fixed rate (receiving rate) was 4.70% and the weighted average variable rate (paying rate) was 0.46% (LIBOR-based).

# Cash Flow Hedges

The Corporation has entered into interest rate swap agreements designated and qualified as a hedge with notional amounts of \$18.5 million to hedge the variability in cash flows on \$18.5 million of junior subordinated debentures. During the second quarter, the Corporation settled \$3.5 million of notional amount of interest rate swap agreements related to certain subordinated debt that was exchanged for common stock and incurred a loss of \$0.1 million (see Note 13 for additional disclosure). Under the terms of the interest rate swaps, which mature September 15, 2012, the Corporation receives a floating rate based on 3-month LIBOR plus 1.33% (1.87% as of June 30, 2010) and pays a weighted average fixed rate of 4.42%. As of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, these interest rate swap agreements are recorded as liabilities in the amount of \$0.9 million and \$0.8 million, respectively.

# **Interest Rate Lock Commitments**

In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation enters into certain commitments with customers in connection with residential mortgage loan applications. Such commitments are considered derivatives under FASB guidance and are required to be recorded at fair value. The aggregate amount of these mortgage loan origination commitments was \$50.2 million and \$41.0 million as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively. The fair value of the origination commitments was \$0.6 million and \$(0.4) million as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively.

### Forward Sales Commitments

To mitigate the effect of the interest rate risk inherent in providing interest rate lock commitments to customers, the Corporation enters into forward sales commitments of MBS. During the period from commitment date to closing date, the Corporation is subject to the risk that market rates of interest may change. If market rates rise, investors generally will pay less to purchase such loans, resulting in a reduction in the gain on sale of the loans or, possibly, a loss. In an effort to mitigate such risk, forward delivery sales commitments, under which the Corporation agrees to deliver certain MBS, are established. These commitments are non-hedging derivatives in accordance with FASB guidance and recorded at fair value. The aggregate amount of forward commitments was \$72.3 million as of June 30, 2010. The fair value of the commitments was \$(1.3) million as of June 30, 2010.

## Forward Purchase Commitments

If the Corporation determines that the amount of its forward sales commitments exceeds the amount necessary to mitigate the interest rate risk in the rate lock commitments, it will enter into forward purchase commitments to purchase MBS on an agreed-upon date and price similar to the terms of forward sales commitments. These commitments are non-hedging derivatives in accordance with FASB guidance and recorded at fair value. The aggregate amount of forward loan purchase commitments was \$39.3 million as of June 30, 2010. The fair value of the commitments was \$0.2 million as of June 30, 2010.

The Corporation obtains dealer quotations to value its interest rate derivative contracts designated as hedges of cash flows, while the fair values of other derivative contracts are estimated utilizing internal valuation models with observable market data inputs. The estimated fair values of the Corporation s derivatives are included in the *Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis* table of Note 12 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

17

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table includes the notional amounts and estimated fair values of the Corporation s derivative contracts outstanding as of the periods presented:

	June 3	0, 2010	<b>December 31, 2009</b>		
	Estimated			<b>Estimated</b>	
	Notional	Fair	Notional	Fair	
	Amount	Value	Amount	Value	
		(Dollars in	thousands)		
Interest rate derivatives designated as hedges of					
fair value:					
Interest rate swap on brokered certificates of					
deposit	\$ 2,777	\$ 325	\$ 2,777	\$ 228	
Interest rate derivatives designated as hedges of					
cash flows:					
Interest rate swaps on subordinated debenture	18,500	(900)	22,000	(766)	
Non-hedging derivatives:					
Brokered certificates of deposit interest rate swap	723	85	723	59	
Mortgage loan held for sale interest rate lock					
commitment	50,194	630	41,038	(370)	
Mortgage loan forward sales commitments	72,329	(1,261)			
Mortgage loan forward purchase commitments	39,306	209			
Commercial loan interest rate swap with loan					
customer	3,716	388	3,766	323	
Commercial loan interest rate swap with financial					
institution	3,716	(388)	3,766	(323)	
		11	20 2010	C 11	

The weighted-average rates paid and received for interest rate swaps outstanding as of June 30, 2010 were as follows:

	Weighted	d-Average	
	Interest	Interest	
	Rate	Rate	
	Paid	Received	
Interest rate swaps:			
Fair value hedge on brokered certificates of deposit interest rate swap	0.46%	4.70%	
Cash flow hedge interest rate swaps on subordinated debentures	4.42	1.87	
Non-hedging interest rate swap on commercial loan	6.73	6.73	

#### Gains, Losses and Derivative Cash Flows

For fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of both the derivative hedging instrument and the hedged item are included in noninterest income to the extent that such changes in fair value do not offset hedge ineffectiveness. For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss due to changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument is included in other comprehensive loss, while the ineffective portion (indicated by the excess of the cumulative change in the fair value of the derivative over that which is necessary to offset the cumulative change in expected future cash flows on the hedge transaction) is included in noninterest income. Net cash flows from the interest rate swap on subordinated debentures designated as a hedging instrument in an effective hedge of cash flows are included in interest expense on subordinated debentures. For non-hedging derivative instruments, gains and losses due to changes in fair value and all cash flows are included in other noninterest income.

Table of Contents 32

18

#### **Table of Contents**

Amounts included in the condensed consolidated statements of operations related to interest rate derivatives designated as hedges of fair value are as follows:

	For the Three Months Ended June 30,		For the Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2010	2009 (Dollars in	2010 thousands)	2009	
Interest rate swap on brokered certificates of deposit: Amount of gain included in interest expense on deposits Amount of gain (loss) included in other noninterest	\$29	\$ 26	\$59	\$ 49	
income		(51)	1	(481)	

Amounts included in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and in other comprehensive loss for the period related to interest rate derivatives designated as hedges of cash flows are as follows:

	_	the	For the Six Months Ended		
		nths Ended			
	June 30,		June 30,		
	2010	2009	2010	2009	
		(Dollars in	thousands)		
Interest rate swap on subordinated debenture:					
Net loss included in interest expense on subordinated					
debt	\$(159)	\$(104)	\$(315)	\$(159)	
Amount of (loss) gain recognized in other					
comprehensive income	(92)	223	(191)	205	

An immaterial amount of ineffectiveness related to interest rate derivatives designated as hedges of cash flows was recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations during the reported periods. The accumulated net after-tax loss related to effective cash flow hedge included in accumulated other comprehensive income was \$0.6 million as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.

Amounts included in the condensed consolidated statements of operations related to non-hedging interest rate swaps on commercial loans were not significant during any of the reported periods. As stated above, the Corporation enters into non-hedge-related derivative positions primarily to accommodate the business needs of its customers. Upon the origination of a derivative contract with a customer, the Corporation simultaneously enters into an offsetting derivative contract with a third party. The Corporation recognizes immediate income based upon the difference in the bid/ask spread of the underlying transactions with its customers and the third party. Because the Corporation acts only as an intermediary for its customer, subsequent changes in the fair value of the underlying derivative contracts for the most part offset each other and do not significantly impact the Corporation s results of operations.

Gain (loss) included in noninterest income in the condensed consolidated statements of operations related to

Gain (loss) included in noninterest income in the condensed consolidated statements of operations related to non-hedging derivative instruments are as follows:

	For the Three Months Ended June 30,			S	For the Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2010		2009 (Dollars i	2010 s in thousands)		2009	
Non-hedging derivatives: Brokered certificates of deposit interest rate swap Mortgage loan held for sale interest rate lock	\$	25	\$(27)	\$	41	\$ (72)	
commitment		807	12	1	,000	288	

Mortgage loan forward sales commitments	(1,261)	(1,261)
Mortgage loan forward purchase commitments	209	209
	19	

### **Table of Contents**

## Counterparty Credit Risk

Derivative contracts involve the risk of dealing with both bank customers and institutional derivative counterparties and their ability to meet contractual terms. Institutional counterparties must have an investment grade credit rating and be approved by the Corporation s Asset/Liability Management Committee. The Corporation s credit exposure on interest rate swaps is limited to the net favorable value and interest payments. Credit exposure may be reduced by the amount of collateral pledged by the counterparty. There are no credit-risk-related contingent features associated with any of the Corporation s derivative contracts.

The aggregate cash collateral posted with the counterparties as collateral by the Corporation related to derivative contracts was approximately \$3.2 million as of June 30, 2010.

20

## **Note 7** Segment Reporting

The Corporation has two reportable segments, the Alabama Region and the Florida Region. The Alabama Region consists of operations located throughout Alabama. The Florida Region consists of operations located primarily in the Tampa Bay area and panhandle region of Florida. The Corporation s reportable segments are managed as separate business units because they are located in different geographic areas. Both segments derive revenues from the delivery of financial services. These services include commercial loans, mortgage loans, consumer loans, deposit accounts and other financial services. Administrative and other banking activities include the results of the Corporation s investment portfolio, home mortgage division, brokered deposits and borrowed funds positions.

The Corporation evaluates performance and allocates resources based on profit or loss from operations. There are no material inter-segment sales or transfers. Net interest income is used as the basis for performance evaluation rather than its components, total interest income and total interest expense. The accounting policies used by each reportable segment are the same as those discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included in the Corporation s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009. All costs, except corporate administration and income taxes, have been allocated to the reportable segments. Therefore, combined amounts agree to the consolidated totals.

						Total Alabama			S	uperior
		abama legion		Torida Region		and Florida ars in thousa	a	ministrative and Other		Sancorp ombined
Three Months Ended June 30, 2010 Net interest income	\$	9,942	\$	10,943	\$	20,885	\$	2,268	\$	23,153
Provision for loan losses(1) Noninterest income Noninterest expense	Ψ	1,889 2,009 9,578	φ	11,751 438 6,450	Φ	13,640 2,447 16,028	Ф	36,723 6,081 15,505	Ψ	50,363 8,528 31,533
Operating profit (loss)	\$	484	\$	(6,820)	\$	(6,336)	\$	(43,879)		(50,215)
Income tax expense										3,507
Net loss									\$	(53,722)
Total assets	\$ 1,	057,887	\$ 1	,267,926	\$	2,325,813	\$	1,032,522	\$3	3,358,335
Three Months Ended June 30, 2009										
Net interest income Provision for loan losses(1) Noninterest income Noninterest expense	\$	8,931 1,424 2,206 9,113	\$	9,396 1,486 514 5,832	\$	18,327 2,910 2,720 14,945	\$	4,390 3,072 (1,893) 12,850	\$	22,717 5,982 827 27,795
Operating profit (loss)	\$	600	\$	2,592	\$	3,192	\$	(13,425)	\$	(10,233)
Income tax benefit										(4,539)
Net loss									\$	(5,694)

Total assets	\$ 1,	073,850	\$1	,171,252	\$ 2,245,102	\$ 964,319	\$3	3,209,421
Six Months Ended June 30, 2010								
Net interest income Provision for loan losses(1) Noninterest income Noninterest expense	\$	20,090 2,862 3,972 18,318	\$	21,670 18,969 890 13,406	\$ 41,760 21,831 4,862 31,724	\$ 4,898 37,659 9,878 29,618	\$	46,658 59,490 14,740 61,342
Operating profit (loss)	\$	2,882	\$	(9,815)	\$ (6,933)	\$ (52,501)	\$	(59,434)
Income tax expense								28
Net loss							\$	(59,462)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2009								
Net interest income Provision for loan losses(1) Noninterest income Noninterest expense	\$	16,991 3,036 4,277 17,425	\$	18,467 2,964 1,029 11,568	\$ 35,458 6,000 5,306 28,993	\$ 8,588 3,434 (4,714) 22,866	\$	44,046 9,434 592 51,859
Operating profit (loss)	\$	807	\$	4,964	\$ 5,771	\$ (22,426)	\$	(16,655)
Income tax benefit								(7,387)
Net loss							\$	(9,268)
(1) Provision for loan losses for Alabama and Florida segments primarily represents charge-offs during the periods presented. Any provision in excess of charge-offs initially flows though Administrative and Other.				21				

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Note 8** Net Loss per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic net loss per common share and diluted net loss per common share (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):

	For Three Mon June	ths Ended	For the Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2010	2009	2010	2009	
Numerator: Net loss Less preferred stock dividends and amortization	\$ (53,722) (899)	\$ (5,694) (1,167)	\$ (59,462) (899)	\$ (9,268) (2,310)	
For basic and diluted, net loss applicable to common stockholders	\$ (54,621)	\$ (6,861)	\$ (60,361)	\$ (11,578)	
Denominator: For basic, weighted average common shares outstanding Effect of dilutive stock options	12,305	10,071	11,977	10,062	
Average common shares outstanding, assuming dilution	12,305	10,071	11,977	10,062	
Basic net loss per common share	\$ (4.44)	\$ (0.68)	\$ (5.04)	\$ (1.15)	
Diluted net loss per common share	\$ (4.44)	\$ (0.68)	\$ (5.04)	\$ (1.15)	

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss, less dividend requirements on outstanding preferred stock, by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period.

Diluted net loss per common share takes into consideration the pro forma dilution assuming certain warrants, unvested restricted stock and unexercised stock option awards were converted or exercised into common shares. Common stock equivalents of 415,329 and 439,600 and 67,422 and 77,027 were not included in computing diluted net loss per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, as they were considered anti-dilutive.

22

#### **Note 9** Comprehensive Loss

Total comprehensive loss was \$52.0 million and \$56.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, and \$4.1 million and \$9.3 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively. Total comprehensive loss consists of net loss and other comprehensive loss. The components of other comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

	Pre-Tax		Income Tax		Net of Income	
	A	mount		xpense s in thousar	Tax	
Three Months Ended June 30, 2010						
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities	\$	4,031	\$	(1,491)	\$	2,540
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net loss		(1,356)		502		(854)
Unrealized gain on derivatives		24		(9)		15
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net loss		(13)		5		(8)
Net unrealized gain	\$	2,686	\$	(993)	\$	1,693
Three Months Ended June 30, 2009						
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities	\$	(3,660)	\$	1,354	\$	(2,306)
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net loss		5,781		(2,139)		3,642
Unrealized gain on derivatives		354		(131)		223
Net unrealized gain	\$	2,475	\$	(916)	\$	1,559
Six Months Ended June 30, 2010						
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities	\$	5,571	\$	(2,061)	\$	3,510
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net loss		(1,158)		428		(730)
Unrealized loss on derivatives		(134)		51		(83)
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net loss		(13)		5		(8)
Net unrealized gain	\$	4,266	\$	(1,577)	\$	2,689
Six Months Ended June 30, 2009						
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities	\$	(12,054)	\$	4,459	\$	(7,595)
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net loss		11,626		(4,302)		7,324
Unrealized gain on derivatives		325		(120)		205
Net unrealized loss	\$	(103)	\$	37	\$	(66)

# Note 10 Income Taxes

The Corporation recognized income tax expense of \$3.5 million and \$0.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, compared to an income tax benefit of \$4.5 million and \$7.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively. The difference between the effective tax rates in 2010 and the blended federal statutory rate of 34% and state tax rates between 5% and 6% was primarily due to the recognition of an additional \$22.0 million valuation allowance against the Corporation s deferred tax assets (DTAs). The Corporation s total valuation allowance was \$23.2 million at June 30, 2010. The difference between the effective and statutory tax

rates in 2009 was primarily due to certain tax-exempt income from investments and income reported from insurance policies.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined using the balance sheet method. Under this method, the net deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse. These calculations are based on many complex factors, including estimates of the timing of reversals of temporary differences, the interpretation of federal and state income tax laws, and a determination of the differences between the tax and the financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ significantly from the estimates and interpretations used in determining the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities.

The recognition of DTAs is based upon management s judgment that realization of the asset is more likely than not. Management s judgment is based on estimates concerning various future events and uncertainties, including future reversals of existing taxable

23

#### **Table of Contents**

temporary differences, the timing and amount of future income earned by the Corporation s subsidiaries, and the implementation of various tax planning strategies to maximize realization of the DTA. A complete discussion of management s assessment of the realizability of the Corporation s DTAs is included in the 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading Critical Accounting Estimates in Management s Discussion and Analysis and in Note 14 to the 2009 consolidated financial statements.

Management evaluates the realizability of DTAs quarterly and, if necessary, adjusts the valuation allowance accordingly. Based on the net loss incurred in the second quarter, management has revised its assessment of the realizability of the DTAs as of June 30, 2010 and recorded a \$23.2 million valuation allowance. As previously disclosed in the 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K, forecasted taxable income is based on several economic scenarios which have been stressed in varying degrees to reflect slower economic recovery than currently anticipated by management. Under the model, this results in additional credit losses with a corresponding impact on the net interest assigned an individual probability of occurring each year, with the final forecast comprising the scenarios that exceed a cumulative probability of 50% (the more likely than not threshold) in any year. Based on the current period loss, management revised these assigned probabilities, which reduced the amount of projected taxable income exceeding the more likely than not threshold. This required management to increase the valuation allowance. Additionally, management may further increase the valuation allowance in the near term if estimates of future taxable income are reduced due to further deteriorations in market conditions or the economy, which could produce additional credit losses within the loan and investment portfolios.

#### Note 11 Stock Incentive Plan

In April 2010, the Corporation s stockholders approved the Superior Bancorp 2010 Incentive Compensation Plan (the 2010 Plan ) which succeeded the 2008 Plan. The purpose of the 2010 Plan is to provide additional incentive for the Corporation s directors and key employees to further the growth, development and financial success of the Corporation and its subsidiaries by personally benefiting through the ownership of the Corporation s common stock, or other rights which recognize such growth, development and financial success. The Corporation s Board also believes the 2010 Plan will enable it to obtain and retain the services of directors and employees who are considered essential to its long-range success by offering them an opportunity to own stock and other rights that reflect the Corporation s financial success. The maximum aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued or transferred pursuant to awards under the 2010 Plan is 1,500,000 shares plus an annual addition of shares on January 1 of each year equal to two percent of the number of shares of the Corporation s outstanding common stock at that time. During the first quarter of 2005, the Corporation granted 422,734 options to the new management team. These options have exercise prices ranging from \$32.68 to \$38.52 per share and were granted outside of the stock incentive plan as part of the inducement package for new management. These shares are included in the tables below. The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant based upon the Black-Scholes pricing model that uses the assumptions noted in the following table. The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal to the expected term. Expected volatility has been estimated based on historical data. The expected term has been estimated based on the five-year vesting date and change of control provisions. The Corporation used the following weighted-average assumptions for the six months ended June 30:

	2010	2009
Risk-free interest rate	2.57%	3.59%
Volatility factor	55.79	35.59
Expected term (in years)	5.00	5.00
Dividend yield	0.00	0.00
	24	

#### **Table of Contents**

A summary of stock option activity as of June 30, 2010 and changes during the six months ended is shown below (Dollars in thousands):

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2010	Number	A E	eighted- verage xercise Price	Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Term	Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Under option, beginning of period	925,647	\$	26.85		
Granted	5,000		3.44		
Exercised					
Forfeited	(25,119)		14.62		
Under option, end of period	905,528	\$	27.06	5.21	\$
Exercisable at end of period	613,028	\$	31.91	2.63	\$
Weighted-average fair value per option of options granted during the period	\$ 3.44				

As of June 30, 2010, there was \$0.3 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to the unvested awards. This expense will be recognized over approximately the next 30 months unless the shares vest earlier based on achievement of benchmark trading price levels. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, the Corporation recognized approximately \$0.1 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, in compensation expense related to options granted. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, the Corporation recognized approximately \$0.1 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, in compensation expense related to options granted.

# **Note 12** Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with FASB guidance, the Corporation measures fair value at the price that would be received by selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Corporation prioritizes the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability ( inputs ) into a three-tier fair value hierarchy. This fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority (Level 1) to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority (Level 3) to unobservable inputs for which little or no market data exists, requiring companies to develop their own assumptions. Observable inputs that do not meet the criteria of Level 1, and include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, are categorized as Level 2. Level 3 inputs are those that reflect management s estimates about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, based on the best information available in the circumstances. Valuation techniques for assets and liabilities measured using Level 3 inputs may include methodologies such as the market approach, the income approach or the cost approach, and may use unobservable inputs such as projections, estimates and management s interpretation of current market data. These unobservable inputs are only utilized to the extent that observable inputs are not available or cost-effective to obtain.

25

# Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The table below presents the Corporation s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis categorized by the level of inputs used in the valuation of each asset as of June 30, 2010:

		Quoted Prices in Active Markets for	Significant Other	Significant Unobservable
	Carrying Value	Identical Assets (Level 1)	Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Inputs (Level 3)
		(Dollars in	thousands)	
June 30, 2010				
Investment securities available-for-sale				
U.S. Agency securities	\$ 18,619	\$	\$ 18,619	\$
Mortgage-backed securities:	112 422		110 400	
U.S. Agency MBS pass-through	112,422 84,454		112,422 84,454	
U.S. Agency CMO Private-label CMO	84,434 14,656		84,434 8,052	6,604
riivate-label Civio	14,030		8,032	0,004
Total MBS	211,532		204,928	6,604
State, county and municipal securities	30,661		29,061	1,600
Corporate obligations:	,		•	,
Corporate debt	4,000		4,000	
Pooled trust preferred securities	3,263			3,263
Single issue trust preferred securities	1,755			1,755
Total corporate obligations	9,018		4,000	5,018
<b>Equity securities</b>	113	113		
Total investment securities				
available-for-sale	269,943	113	256,608	13,222
Derivative assets	1,637		1,637	
Total recurring basis measured assets	\$271,580	\$ 113	\$ 258,245	\$13,222
Derivative liabilities	\$ 2,549	\$	\$ 2,549	\$
Total recurring basis measured liabilities	\$ 2,549	\$	\$ 2,549	\$
	26			

#### **Table of Contents**

The table below presents the Corporation s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis categorized by the level of inputs used in the valuation of each asset as of December 31, 2009:

	Carrying Value	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
		(Dollars in	thousands)	
December 31, 2009				
Investment securities available-for-sale				
U.S. Agency securities	\$ 53,681	\$	\$ 53,681	\$
Mortgage-backed securities:				
U.S. Agency pass-through	163,724		163,724	
U.S. Agency CMO	12,759		12,759	
Private-label CMO	16,191		8,771	7,420
Total MBS	192,674		185,254	7,420
State, county and municipal securities	31,462		29,733	1,729
Corporate obligations:				
Corporate debt	4,000		4,000	
Pooled trust preferred securities	3,203			3,203
Single issue trust preferred securities	977			977
Total corporate obligations	8,180		4,000	4,180
<b>Equity securities</b>	313	313	·	
Total investment securities				
available-for-sale	286,310	313	272,668	13,329
Derivative assets	610	0.10	610	10,02
Total recurring basis measured assets	\$286,920	\$ 313	\$ 273,278	\$13,329
Derivative liabilities	\$ 1,459	\$	\$ 1,459	\$
Total recurring basis measured liabilities	\$ 1,459	\$	\$ 1,459	\$

# Valuation Techniques Recurring Basis

# Securities Available-for-Sale

When quoted prices are available in an active market, securities are classified as Level 1. These securities include investments in Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac preferred stock. For securities reported at fair value utilizing Level 2 inputs, the Corporation obtains fair value measurements from an independent pricing service. These fair value measurements consider observable market data that may include benchmark yield curves, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads and credit information, among other inputs. In certain cases where there is limited activity, securities are classified as Level 3 within the valuation hierarchy. These securities include a single issue trust

preferred security and CDOs backed by pooled trust preferred securities and certain private-label mortgage-backed securities. The fair value of the trust preferred securities is calculated using an income approach based on various spreads to LIBOR determined after a review of applicable financial data and credit ratings (see Note 3 *Trust Preferred Securities*). As of June 30, 2010, the fair values of five private-label mortgage-backed securities totaling \$6.6 million were measured using Level 3 inputs because the market has become illiquid, as indicated by few, if any, trades during the period. Prior to June 30, 2009, these securities were previously measured using Level 2 inputs. The assumptions used in the valuation model include expected future default rates, loss severity and prepayments. The model also takes into account the structure of the security including credit support. Based on these assumptions the model calculates and projects the timing and amount of interest and principal payments expected for the security. The discount rates used in the valuation model were based on a yield that the market would require for such securities with maturities and risk characteristics similar to the securities being measured (see Note 3 *Mortgage-backed Securities*).

27

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Derivative Financial Instruments**

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value based on modeling that utilizes observable market inputs for various interest rates published by leading third-party financial news and data providers. This is observable data that represents the rates used by market participants for instruments entered into at that date; however, they are not based on actual transactions so they are classified as Level 2.

# **Changes in Level 3 Fair Value Measurements**

The tables below include a roll-forward of the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition amounts for the periods indicated, including changes in fair value for financial instruments within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. Level 3 financial instruments typically include unobservable components, but may also include some observable components that may be validated to external sources. The gains or (losses) in the following table may include changes to fair value due in part to observable factors that may be part of the valuation methodology:

# Level 3 Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

	Available-for-Sale			Sale	
		Secu	ırities		
	June 30,				
	2010			2009	
		(Dollars in	thous	ands)	
Balance at January 1	\$	13,329	\$	18,497	
Transfer into level 3 category during the year				6,181	
Total gains (losses) (realized and unrealized)					
Included in earnings investment security loss		(97)		(11,626)	
Included in other comprehensive loss		929		(3,038)	
Other changes due to principal payments		(939)		(309)	
Balance at June 30	\$	13,222	\$	9,705	
Total amount of loss for the period year-to-date included in earnings attributable					
to the change in unrealized gains (losses) related to assets held at June 30	\$	(97)	\$	(11,626)	
28					

#### Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

The table below presents the assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis categorized by the level of inputs used in the valuation of each asset for the periods indicated:

		Quoted Prices in Active Markets		
	Carrying Value	for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
7 20 2010		(Dollars i	n thousands)	
June 30, 2010  Mortage loops held for sele	\$ 54,823	\$	\$ 54,823	\$
Mortgage loans held-for-sale Impaired loans, net of specific allowance	204,957	Φ	Ф <i>3</i> 4,623	э 204,957
Other foreclosed real estate	45,184			45,184
Other real estate held-for-sale	3,342			3,342
Total nonrecurring basis measured assets	\$308,306	\$	\$ 54,823	\$253,483
December 31, 2009				
Mortgage loans held-for-sale	\$ 71,879	\$	\$ 71,879	\$
Impaired loans, net of specific allowance	155,545			155,545
Other foreclosed real estate	41,618			41,618
Other real estate held-for-sale	3,349			3,349
Total nonrecurring basis measured assets	\$272,391	\$	\$ 71,879	\$200,512

# **Valuation Techniques** Nonrecurring Basis

# Mortgage Loans Held- for- Sale

Mortgage loans held-for-sale are recorded at the lower of aggregate cost or fair value. Fair value is generally based on quoted market prices of similar loans and is considered to be Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

# **Impaired Loans**

Impaired loans are evaluated and valued at the time the loan is identified as impaired, at the lower of cost or fair value. These loans are collateral-dependent, and their fair value is measured based on the value of the collateral securing these loans and is classified at a Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. Collateral typically includes real estate and/or business assets including equipment. The value of real estate collateral is determined based on such appraisals. The value of business equipment is also determined based on such appraisals, if significant. Appraised and reported values are discounted based on management s historical knowledge, changes in market conditions from the time of valuation, and/or management s expertise and knowledge of the client and client s business. Impaired loans are reviewed and evaluated on at least a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly, based on the same factors identified above.

29

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Other Foreclosed Real Estate

Other real estate, acquired through partial or total satisfaction of loans, is carried at fair value, less estimated selling expenses. At the date of acquisition, any difference between the fair value and book value of the asset is charged to the allowance for loan losses. The value of other foreclosed real estate collateral is determined based on appraisals by qualified licensed appraisers approved and hired by the Corporation. Appraised and reported values are discounted based on management s historical knowledge, changes in market conditions from the time of valuation, and/or management s expertise and knowledge of the client and the client s business. Foreclosed real estate is reviewed and evaluated on at least a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly, based on the same factors identified above.

# Other Real Estate Held-for-Sale

Other real estate held-for-sale, which consists primarily of closed branch locations, is carried at the lower of cost or fair value, less estimated selling expenses. The fair value of other real estate held-for-sale is determined based on management s appraisal of properties assessed values and general market conditions. Other real estate held-for-sale is reviewed and evaluated on at least a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly, based on the same factors identified above.

The methodologies for estimating the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring or non-recurring basis are discussed above. The estimated fair value approximates carrying value for cash and short-term instruments, accrued interest and the cash surrender value of life insurance policies. The methodologies for other financial assets and financial liabilities are discussed below:

# Tax Lien Certificates

The carrying amount of tax lien certificates approximates their fair value.

#### Net Loans

Fair values for variable-rate loans that re-price frequently and have no significant change in credit risk are based on carrying values. Fair values for all other loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses using interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality. Fair values for impaired loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses or underlying collateral values, where applicable.

# **Deposits**

The fair values disclosed for demand deposits are, by definition, equal to the amounts payable on demand at the reporting date (that is, their carrying amounts). The carrying amounts of variable-rate, fixed-term money market accounts and certificates of deposit ( CDs ) approximate their fair values at the reporting date. Fair values for fixed-rate CDs are estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest rates currently being offered on advances from the FHLB Atlanta to a schedule of aggregated expected monthly maturities on time deposits.

# Advances from FHLB Atlanta

The fair values of FHLB Atlanta advances are based on pricing supplied by FHLB Atlanta.

# Federal Funds Borrowed and Security Repurchase Agreements

The carrying amount of federal funds borrowed and security repurchase agreements approximate their fair values.

#### Notes Payable

The carrying amount of variable rate notes payable approximates their fair values. The fair value for fixed-rate notes payable is estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies an interest rate based on a credit spread above the current Treasury yield.

30

#### Subordinated debentures

Rates currently available in the market for preferred offerings with similar terms and maturities are used to estimate fair value.

#### Limitations

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and are based on relevant market information, which is continuously changing. Because no quoted market prices exist for a significant portion of the Corporation's financial instruments, fair values for such instruments are based on management is assumptions with respect to future economic conditions, estimated discount rates, estimates of the amount and timing of future cash flows, expected loss experience, and other factors. These estimates are subjective in nature involving uncertainties and matters of significant judgment; therefore, they cannot be determined with precision. Changes in the assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

The estimated fair values of the Corporation s financial instruments for the periods indicated are as follows:

	June 3	30, 2010	<b>December 31, 2009</b>		
	Carrying Amount	Fair Value	Carrying Amount	Fair Value	
		(Dollars in	thousands)		
Financial assets:					
Cash and due from banks	\$ 54,648	\$ 54,648	\$ 74,020	\$ 74,020	
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks	245,182	245,182	23,714	23,714	
Federal funds sold	1,328	1,328	2,036	2,036	
Securities available for sale	269,943	269,943	286,310	286,310	
Tax lien certificates	18,820	18,820	19,292	19,292	
Mortgage loans held for sale	54,823	54,823	71,879	71,879	
Net loans	2,403,135	2,418,129	2,430,813	2,440,026	
Stock in FHLB	18,212	18,212	18,212	18,212	
Accrued interest receivable	50,792	50,792	50,142	50,142	
Derivative assets	1,637	1,637	610	610	
Financial liabilities:					
Deposits	2,838,521	2,856,411	2,656,573	2,671,504	
Advances from FHLB	216,324	233,574	218,322	233,028	
Security repurchase agreements	762	762	841	841	
Note payable	45,150	46,765	45,917	45,917	
Subordinated debentures	81,196	58,956	84,170	51,609	
Derivative liabilities	2,549	2,549	1,459	1,459	
Cash and due from banks Interest-bearing deposits in other banks Federal funds sold Securities available for sale Tax lien certificates Mortgage loans held for sale Net loans Stock in FHLB Accrued interest receivable Derivative assets Financial liabilities: Deposits Advances from FHLB Security repurchase agreements Note payable Subordinated debentures	245,182 1,328 269,943 18,820 54,823 2,403,135 18,212 50,792 1,637 2,838,521 216,324 762 45,150 81,196	245,182 1,328 269,943 18,820 54,823 2,418,129 18,212 50,792 1,637 2,856,411 233,574 762 46,765 58,956	23,714 2,036 286,310 19,292 71,879 2,430,813 18,212 50,142 610 2,656,573 218,322 841 45,917 84,170	23,714 2,036 286,316 19,292 71,879 2,440,026 18,212 50,142 616 2,671,504 233,028 84 45,917 51,609	

# Note 13 Stockholders Equity

During the second quarter of 2010, Cambridge Savings Bank ( Cambridge ) exchanged \$3.5 million of trust preferred securities issued by the Corporation s wholly-owned unconsolidated subsidiary, Superior Capital Trust I, for 849,156 shares of the Corporation s common stock, pursuant to an agreement dated January 15, 2010. The number of shares of common stock issued to Cambridge was based on 77% of the face value of the trust preferred securities divided by a weighted average of the sales prices of newly issued shares of the Corporation s common stock sold between the date of the agreement and the closing of the exchange (\$2.4 million at \$3.19 per share and \$1.1 million at \$3.15 per share). The Corporation recorded a net after-tax gain of \$0.5 million upon exchange of the trust preferred securities. The exchange increased stockholders equity by approximately \$3.2 million, consisting of both the increase in equity upon recording a \$0.5 million gain on exchange of the securities and the value of the newly issued shares.

On January 20, 2010, the Corporation entered into an agreement with KBW, Inc. ( KBW ) pursuant to which KBW will exchange \$4.0 million of trust preferred securities issued by the Corporation s wholly-owned unconsolidated

subsidiary, Superior Capital Trust I, for shares of the Corporation s common stock. The number of shares of common stock to be issued to KBW will equal 50% of the face value of the trust preferred securities divided by the greater of the following prices of the Corporation s common stock during the ten trading days prior to the closing of the exchange: (1) the average of the closing prices or (2) 90% of the volume-weighted average

31

#### **Table of Contents**

price. The consummation of the transaction is conditioned upon obtaining consent of the Corporation s stockholders if required by NASDAQ, and other customary closing conditions. Consummation of the transaction remains pending. Neither the Corporation nor its affiliates have any material relationship with Cambridge other than in respect of the exchange agreement. Neither the Corporation nor its affiliates have any material relationship with KBW, except that the Corporation has engaged an affiliate of KBW to assist it in formulating and implementing strategies to strengthen its capital position.

In the second quarter, the Corporation issued Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (Series B Preferred Stock) with a liquidation value of \$11.1 million for cash consideration of \$11.1 million. At the same time, the Corporation issued to the purchasers five-year warrants to purchase 792,859 shares of the Corporation's common stock at an exercise price of \$3.50 per share. The fair value of the warrants was determined to be \$1.2 million using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the value allocated using the proportional method. The assumptions used in the model were: risk-free rate of 2.38%, volatility factor of 65.90% and a dividend yield of 0.00%. The Series B Preferred Stock had a beneficial conversion feature of \$2.5 million as of the date of issuance. The value of the warrants and the beneficial conversion feature is being amortized against retained earnings as part of the preferred stock dividend until December 15, 2010. The Series B Preferred Stock is mandatorily convertible upon the earlier of December 15, 2010 or the completion of additional capital financing by the Corporation, but is not voluntarily convertible by the holder prior to such time. If the Series B Preferred Stock converts in conjunction with the consummation of additional capital financing, the conversion rate will be the lower of \$2.89 or 83% of the offering price of the additional financing. If the Series B Preferred Stock converts on December 15, 2010, the conversion rate will be the lower of \$2.89 or 83% of the 10-day volume-weighted trailing average of closing prices of the Corporation s common stock.

In addition, during the second quarter, the Corporation issued Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock with a liquidation value of \$0.3 million for cash consideration in the same amount along with five-year warrants to purchase 21,429 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of \$3.50. The fair value of the warrants, which were nominal, was determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the value allocated using the proportional method. The assumptions used in the model were: risk-free rate of 2.38%, volatility factor of 65.90% and a dividend yield of 0.00%. The value of the warrants is being amortized against retained earnings as part of the preferred stock dividend until December 15, 2010. The Series C Preferred Stock is mandatorily convertible upon the earlier of December 15, 2010 or the completion of additional capital financing by the Corporation, but is not voluntarily convertible by the holder prior to such time. The conversion rate of the Series C Preferred Stock is the market price (the Market Price) of the Corporation s common stock on the trading day immediately preceding the date of issuance of the Series C Preferred Stock. However, if stockholder approval is obtained prior to conversion, the conversion rate of the Series C Preferred Stock will be the lower of (a) the Market Price and (b) 83% of the offering price of additional capital financings by the Corporation or, if no such financing occurs, the 10-day volume-weighted trailing average of closing prices of the Corporation s common stock prior to December 15, 2010.

There were no underwriting discounts or commissions in connection with the sale of Series B Preferred Stock or Series C Preferred Stock.

# ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

#### **Basis of Presentation**

The following is a discussion and analysis of our June 30, 2010 condensed consolidated financial condition and results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Our accounting and reporting policies conform to generally accepted accounting principles applicable to financial institutions.

This information should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this report and the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations appearing in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Overview

Our principal subsidiary is Superior Bank, a federal savings bank. Superior Bank has principal offices in Birmingham, Alabama and Tampa, Florida, and operates 73 banking offices in Alabama (45) and Florida (28). Superior Bank s consumer finance subsidiaries operate an additional 24 consumer finance offices in northern Alabama, doing business as 1st Community Credit and Superior Financial Services. We had assets of approximately \$3.358 billion, loans of approximately \$2.483 billion, deposits of approximately \$2.839 billion and stockholders equity of approximately \$149.3 million as of June 30, 2010. Total assets increased 4.2% compared to \$3.222 billion as of December 31, 2009. Loans increased 0.4% compared to \$2.473 billion as of December 31, 2009. Total deposits increased 6.9% from \$2.657 billion as of December 31, 2009.

We incurred a net loss for the three months ended June 30, 2010 of \$53.7 million compared to a net loss of \$5.7 million in the three months ended June 30, 2009. Included in the net loss for the three months ended June 30, 2010 was an increase in credit-related costs (i.e. provisions for loan loss, other real estate owned (OREO) expense, collection costs, etc.) of \$46.0 million. This increase was partially offset by a \$5.3 million decline in other-than-temporary impairments (OTTI) associated with securities in our investment portfolio. We also recorded a \$22.0 million deferred tax valuation allowance, which eliminated any tax benefit on our loss for the three months ended June 30, 2010.

During the quarter, we experienced (1) a migration of performing classified loans into non-performing status, (2) an increase in troubled debt restructurings ( TDRs ) resulting from workout activity, and (3) an increase in collateral impairments relative to other external factors such as short sales and deteriorated values in comparable properties. These factors created the need for increased loan loss provision during the second quarter of 2010. In addition, management increased the general allowance for loan losses to account for its estimate of losses related to the recent oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico ( the spill ). The historical loss ratio used to estimate the allowance for loan losses also increased significantly during the second quarter of 2010. The ratio is based on a four-quarter rolling average and has been affected by the level of charge-offs during 2010. See Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors Risks Relating to our Business elsewhere in this report.

Our non-performing loans increased to \$231.4 million, or 9.32% of loans as of June 30, 2010, from \$178.0 million, or 7.10% of loans as of March 31, 2010. The overall increase in nonperforming loans was primarily related to real estate construction and commercial real estate mortgage loan portfolios. Loans in the 30-89 days past due category decreased to 1.78% of total loans as of June 30, 2010 from 1.88% of total loans as of March 31, 2010.

Non-performing assets were 8.25% of total assets as of June 30, 2010 compared to 6.73% as of March 31, 2010.

Our annualized ratio of net charged-off loans to average loans increased to 2.26% for the three months ended June 30, 2010 compared to 1.27% for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and 1.03% for the three months ended December 31, 2009. Of the \$14.1 million net charge-offs, for the three months ended June 30, 2010, Superior Bank s net charge-offs were \$13.5 million, or 2.17% of consolidated average loans on an annualized basis, and our two consumer finance companies net charge-offs were \$0.6 million, or 0.09% of consolidated average loans on an annualized basis.

Our loan loss provision significantly increased over the provision reflected in previous periods, with a provision of \$50.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010, compared to \$9.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and \$6.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2009. As of June 30, 2010, the allowance for loan losses increased by \$36.2 million to \$79.4 million, or 3.20% of net loans, compared to \$43.2 million, or 1.72% of net loans, as of March 31, 2010. In addition, our losses and expenses on OREO were \$3.4 million during the three months ended June 30, 2010 and \$2.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2010, an increase from the \$1.7 million during the three months ended June 30, 2009, reflecting dispositions of several foreclosed properties. At 3.20% of net loans, the allowance for loan losses is equal to approximately 2.4x net loan losses for the last 12 months.

Our loans, net of unearned income, were \$2.483 billion as of June 30, 2010, a decrease of 0.9%, or \$22.9 million, from \$2.505 billion as of March 31, 2010. As of June 30, 2010, we had a decrease in balances outstanding in certain categories of loans, primarily in residential construction lending, which decreased \$13.0 million to \$288.9 million compared to \$301.9 million as of March 31, 2010. This was primarily related to existing construction loans paying off as completed homes have sold during the spring and summer selling season. Commercial construction also decreased

slightly by \$0.4 million to \$391.5 million compared to March 31, 2010, as projects have been completed. Other categories of commercial real estate lending were up approximately \$3.5 million, principally related to increases in healthcare-related properties. In addition, single-family residential mortgages decreased approximately \$2.7 million from March 31, 2010. Our stance on new credit will continue to remain cautious, with loan totals likely remaining flat to declining slowly. We also are subject to certain lending restrictions imposed by the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS). See Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors Risks Relating to Our Business elsewhere in this report. This is also consistent with our stance on capital preservation in the near term, as we seek to maintain high capital ratios in this uncertain environment.

Our primary source of revenue is net interest income, which is determined by calculating the difference between income earned on interest-earning assets, such as loans and investments, and interest paid on interest-bearing liabilities, such as deposits and borrowings. Our results of operations are also affected by credit cost, including the provision for loan losses, losses and other costs on foreclosed properties (foreclosure losses), and other noninterest expenses, such as salaries and benefits, occupancy expenses and provision for income taxes. The effects of these noninterest expenses are partially offset by noninterest sources of revenue, such as service charges and fees on deposit accounts and mortgage banking income. Our volume of business is influenced by competition in our markets and overall economic conditions including such factors as market interest rates, business spending and consumer confidence. See Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors Risks Relating to Our Business elsewhere in this report. Net interest income decreased to \$23.2 million during the three months ended June 30, 2010 from \$23.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2010, and increased from the \$22.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2009. The net interest margin was 3.02% for the three months ended June 30, 2010 compared to 3.19% for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and 3.22% for the three months ended June 30, 2009. In prior periods, payments on our \$69.0 million principal amount of preferred stock issued to the Treasury under the CPP were treated as dividends, but effective with the conversion of that preferred stock to trust preferred securities in December 2009, payments on those trust preferred securities were treated as interest expense. This had an effect on the reported net interest margin for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 of 0.22% for both periods. The effect on net interest margin of loans being placed on non-accrual status approximated 0.19% and 0.13% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively. Including both foregone interest and the reversal of interest

33

#### **Table of Contents**

accrued during the year on those loans, the effect on net interest margin was 0.57% and 0.49%, respectively. Additionally, the net interest margin reflected our decision to maintain higher levels of very short-term investments for liquidity purposes. These investments, which averaged \$145.0 million and \$117.9 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, had an average yield of 0.36% and 0.38%, respectively, which led to a decline in the yield on earning assets.

# Liquidity and Capital

Short-term liquid assets (cash and due from banks, interest-bearing deposits in other banks and federal funds sold) increased \$201.4 million to \$301.2 million as of June 30, 2010 from \$99.8 million as of December 31, 2009. As of June 30, 2010, short-term liquid assets were 9.0% of total assets, compared to 3.1% as of December 31, 2009. Management continually monitors our liquidity position and will increase or decrease short-term liquid assets as necessary. Our principal sources of funds are deposits, principal and interest payments on loans and federal funds sold. Management believes it has established sufficient sources of funds to meet its anticipated liquidity needs. See Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors Risks Relating to Our Business elsewhere in this report.

Superior Bank is adequately capitalized under regulatory guidelines, with a total risk-based capital ratio of 8.85%, a Tier I core capital ratio of 5.64% and a Tier I risk-based capital ratio of 7.22% as of June 30, 2010. Superior Bank s tangible common equity ratio was 6.34% as of June 30, 2010. Our consolidated total risk-based capital ratio was 9.46% and our tangible common equity ratio was 3.41% as of June 30, 2010. We are currently exploring and pursuing a variety of initiatives aimed at increasing our capital and returning to well capitalized status.

# **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

See Note 1 to the condensed consolidated financial statements elsewhere in this report for other recent accounting pronouncements that are not expected to have a significant effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

34

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Results of Operations**

For the three months ended June 30, 2010, we reported a net loss of \$53.7 million, primarily as a result of increases in the provision for loan losses of \$44.4 million, foreclosure losses of \$1.6 million, and salaries and benefits of \$1.5 million. These expense increases were partially offset by a decrease in losses on portfolio securities of \$7.1 million compared to the same period in 2009.

For the six months ended June 30, 2010, we reported a net loss of \$59.5 million, primarily as a result of increases in the provision for loan losses of \$50.1 million, foreclosure losses of \$3.6 million, and salaries and benefits of \$3.4 million. These expense increases were partially offset by a decrease in security losses of \$12.8 million compared to the same period in 2009.

Changes in other components of our operations are discussed in the various sections that follow. The following table presents key data for the periods indicated:

	For	the	For	the	
	Three Mon	ths Ended	Six Mont	hs Ended	
	June	30,	June 30,		
	2010	2009	2010	2009	
	(Dolla	ers in thousands,	except per share	data)	
Net loss	\$(53,722)	\$(5,694)	\$(59,462)	\$ (9,268)	
Net loss applicable to common shareholders	(54,621)	(6,861)	(60,361)	(11,578)	
Net loss per common share (diluted)	(4.44)	(0.68)	(5.04)	(1.15)	
Net interest margin	3.02%	3.22%	3.10%	3.17%	
Net interest spread	2.89	3.04	2.97	2.97	
Return on average assets	(6.42)	(0.72)	(3.62)	(0.60)	
Return on average stockholders equity	(113.06)	(9.28)	(62.73)	(7.51)	
Common book value per share	\$ 10.24	\$ 16.66	\$ 10.24	\$ 16.66	
	35				

The following tables depict, on a taxable equivalent basis for the periods indicated, certain information related to our average balance sheet and our average yields on assets and average costs of liabilities. Average yields are calculated by dividing income or expense by the average balance of the corresponding assets or liabilities. Average balances have been calculated on a daily basis.

	Three Months Ended June 30,					
	Average Balance	2010 Income/ Expense	Yield/ Rate (Dollars in t	Average Balance	2009 Income/ Expense	Yield/ Rate
		ASSEI				
Interest-earning assets:						
Loans, net of unearned						
income (1)	\$ 2,565,992	\$ 36,212	5.66%	\$ 2,459,020	\$ 35,959	5.87%
Investment securities	250 051	2 (27	4.0=	200 677		<b>7</b> 40
Taxable	258,851	2,625	4.07	280,655	3,778	5.40
Tax-exempt (2)	29,781	476	6.41	41,510	658	6.36
Total investment securities	288,632	3,101	4.31	322,165	4,436	5.52
Federal funds sold	2,690	2	0.30	3,498	2	0.23
Other investments	181,794	393	0.87	71,650	456	2.55
Total interest-earning assets Noninterest-earning assets:	3,039,108	39,708	5.24	2,856,333	40,853	5.74
Cash and due from banks	69,357			81,951		
Premises and equipment	102,204			105,519		
Accrued interest and other						
assets	187,145			160,060		
Allowance for loan losses	(43,709)			(29,889)		
Total assets	\$ 3,354,105			\$ 3,173,974		
	LIABILITIES	S AND STOCI	KHOLDERS	EQUITY		
Interest-bearing liabilities:						
Demand deposits	\$ 657,265	\$ 2,060	1.26%	\$ 672,869	\$ 2,172	1.29%
Savings deposits	344,485	1,117	1.30	235,946	904	1.54
Time deposits	1,520,740	8,275	2.18	1,402,255	11,033	3.16
Other borrowings	267,839	2,542	3.81	292,474	2,597	3.56
Subordinated debentures (2)	84,487	2,843	13.50	60,795	1,206	7.96
Total interest-bearing						
liabilities Noninterest-bearing	2,874,816	16,837	2.35	2,664,339	17,912	2.70
liabilities:						
Demand deposits	269,095			245,819		
Accrued interest and other	207,075			210,017		
liabilities	19,600			17,663		
	- ,			- ,		

Total liabilities Stockholders equity	3,163,511 190,594			2,927,821 246,153		
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 3,354,105			\$3,173,974		
Net interest income/net interest spread		22,871	2.89%		22,941	3.04%
Net yield on earning assets			3.02%			3.22%
Taxable equivalent adjustment (2):						
Investment securities Interest expense on		(162)			(224)	
subordinated debentures		444				
Net interest income		\$ 23,153			\$ 22,717	
		36				

	Average Balance	2010 Income/ Expense	Yield/ Rate (Dollars in t	Average Balance chousands)	2009 Income/ Expense	Yield/ Rate
		ASSE	ΓS			
Interest-earning assets:						
Loans, net of unearned						
income (1)	\$ 2,552,351	\$ 72,554	5.73%	\$ 2,425,767	\$ 70,911	5.89%
Investment securities						
Taxable	256,332	5,536	4.36	291,255	7,787	5.39
Tax-exempt (2)	30,023	948	6.37	40,898	1,307	6.44
Total investment securities	286,355	6,484	4.57	332,153	9,094	5.52
Federal funds sold	2,452	3	0.25	5,359	7	0.26
Other investments	155,115	765	0.99	64,739	818	2.55
Total interest-earning assets Noninterest-earning assets:	2,996,273	79,806	5.37	2,828,018	80,830	5.76
Cash and due from banks	71,594			76,104		
Premises and equipment	102,555			105,300		
Accrued interest and other						
assets	185,932			156,807		
Allowance for loan losses	(42,764)			(29,508)		
Total assets	\$3,313,590			\$ 3,136,721		
	LIABILITIES	S AND STOC	KHOLDERS	EQUITY		
Interest-bearing liabilities:						
Demand deposits	\$ 661,245	\$ 4,114	1.25%	\$ 657,286	\$ 4,366	1.34%
Savings deposits	321,148	2,090	1.31	217,655	1,825	1.69
Time deposits	1,501,486	16,773	2.25	1,380,972	22,811	3.33
Other borrowings	268,403	5,064	3.80	312,812	4,938	3.18
Subordinated debentures (2)	84,372	5,674	13.56	60,823	2,400	7.96
Total interest-bearing						
liabilities Noninterest-bearing	\$ 2,836,654	33,715	2.40	\$ 2,629,548	36,340	2.79
liabilities:						
Demand deposits	265,636			238,722		
Accrued interest and other						
liabilities	20,158			19,594		
Total liabilities	3,122,448			2,887,864		
Stockholders equity	191,142			248,857		
	•			*		

Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$3,313,590			\$ 3,136,721		
Net interest income/net interest spread		46,091	2.97%		44,490	2.97%
Net yield on earning assets			3.10%			3.17%
Taxable equivalent adjustment: (2) Investment securities Interest expense on subordinated debentures		(322) 889			(444)	
Net interest income		\$ 46,658			\$ 44,046	
(1) Nonaccrual loans are included in loans, net of unearned						

(2) Interest

income/expense and yields are presented on a fully taxable equivalent basis using a tax rate of 34%.

income. No adjustment has been made for these loans in the calculation of yields.

37

# **Table of Contents**

The largest component of our net income is net interest income, which is the difference between the income earned on interest-earning assets and interest paid on deposits and borrowings. The following table summarizes the changes in the components of net interest income for the periods indicated:

			Increase (De	ecrease) in			
	Three Months Ended June 30, 2010 vs. 2009			Six Months Ended June 30, 2010 vs. 2009			
	Average Balance	Income/ Expense	Yield/ Rate	Average Balance	Income/ Expense	Yield/ Rate	
ASSETS			(Dollars in t	housands)			
Interest-earning assets:							
Loans, net of unearned							
income	\$ 106,972	\$ 253	(0.21)%	\$ 126,584	\$ 1,643	(0.16)%	
Investment securities	ψ 100,772	Ψ 233	(0.21)/0	ψ 120,504	φ 1,043	(0.10) //	
Taxable	(21,804)	(1,153)	(1.33)	(34,923)	(2,251)	(1.03)	
Tax-exempt	(21,304) $(11,729)$	(182)	0.05	(10,875)	(359)	(0.07)	
rux exempt	(11,72))	(102)	0.03	(10,075)	(337)	(0.07)	
Total investment securities	(33,533)	(1,335)	(1.21)	(45,798)	(2,610)	(0.95)	
Federal funds sold	(808)	(1,333)	0.07	(2,907)	(2,010) $(4)$	(0.01)	
Other investments	110,144	(63)	(1.68)	90,376	(53)	(1.56)	
other investments	110,144	(03)	(1.00)	70,570	(55)	(1.50)	
Total interest-earning assets	\$ 182,775	(1,145)	(0.50)	\$ 168,255	(1,024)	(0.39)	
Interest-bearing liabilities:							
Demand deposits	\$ (15,604)	\$ (112)	(0.03)%	\$ 3,959	\$ (252)	(0.09)%	
Savings deposits	108,539	213	(0.03)% $(0.24)$	103,493	\$ (232) 265		
	•		` ′	•		(0.38)	
Time deposits	118,485	(2,758)	(0.98)	120,514	(6,038)	(1.08)	
Other borrowings	(24,635)	(55)	0.25	(44,409)	126	0.62	
Subordinated debentures	23,692	1,637	5.54	23,549	3,274	5.60	
Total interest-bearing							
liabilities	\$ 210,477	(1,075)	(0.35)	\$ 207,106	(2,625)	(0.39)	
Net interest income/net		( <b>=</b> 0)	(0.4.5) 64		4.604	~	
interest spread		(70)	(0.15)%		1,601	%	
Net yield on earning assets			(0.20)%			(0.07)%	
Taxable equivalent							
adjustment:							
Investment securities		62			122		
Interest expense on							
subordinated debentures		444			889		
Net interest income		\$ 436			\$ 2,612		
		38					
		50					

# **Table of Contents**

The following table sets forth, on a taxable equivalent basis, the effect that the varying levels of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the applicable rates have had on changes in net interest income for the periods indicated:

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2010 vs. 2009 (1)			Six Months Ended June 30, 2010 vs. 2009 (1)			
	Increase	Changes	Due To	Increase	Due To		
	(Decrease)	Rate	Volume	(Decrease)	Rate	Volume	
	(Dol	lars in thousa	nds)	(Dol	lars in thousa	nds)	
Increase (decrease) in:	•		,			ŕ	
Income from interest-earning							
assets:							
Interest and fees on loans	\$ 253	\$ (1,299)	\$ 1,552	\$ 1,643	\$ (1,969)	\$ 3,612	
Interest on securities:			,	,		,	
Taxable	(1,153)	(877)	(276)	(2,251)	(1,383)	(868)	
Tax-exempt	(182)	5	(187)	(359)	(14)	(345)	
Interest on federal funds	( - )	1	(1)	(4)	( )	(4)	
Interest on other investments	(63)	(439)	376	(53)	(713)	660	
Total interest income	(1,145)	(2,609)	1,464	(1,024)	(4,079)	3,055	
Expense from interest-bearing							
liabilities:							
Interest on demand deposits	(112)	(56)	(56)	(252)	(280)	28	
Interest on savings deposits	213	(157)	370	265	(472)	737	
Interest on time deposits	(2,758)	(3,635)	877	(6,038)	(7,894)	1,856	
Interest on other borrowings	(55)	174	(229)	126	883	(757)	
Interest on subordinated							
debentures	1,637	1,049	588	3,274	2,112	1,162	
Total interest expense	(1,075)	(2,625)	1,550	(2,625)	(5,651)	3,026	
Net interest income	\$ (70)	\$ 16	\$ (86)	\$ 1,601	\$ 1,572	\$ 29	

(1) The change in interest due to both rate and volume has been allocated to rate and volume changes in proportion to the relationship of the absolute dollar amounts of the changes in each.

39

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Noninterest income

Noninterest income increased \$7.7 million and \$14.1 million to \$8.5 million and \$14.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, compared to \$0.8 million and \$0.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively. The increases were primarily due to reductions in OTTI, increases in mortgage banking income and a gain on the exchange of trust preferred securities for shares of our common stock. See Financial Condition Investment Securities for additional discussion. The components of noninterest income for the periods indicated consisted of the following:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			
			<b>%</b>	
	2010	2009	Change	
	(D	ollars in thousa	ands)	
Service charges and fees on deposits	\$ 2,335	\$ 2,524	(7.49)%	
Mortgage banking income	2,667	2,271	17.44	
Investment securities gains (losses)	1,356	(5,781)	NCM	
Change in fair value of derivatives	(239)	(67)	NCM	
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance	558	540	3.33	
Gain on exchange of subordinated debt for common stock	507		NCM	
Other noninterest income	1,344	1,340	0.30	
Total	\$ 8,528	\$ 827	NCM%	

	Six Months Ended June 30,			
			<b>%</b>	
	2010	2009	Change	
	(D	ollars in thousa	nds)	
Service charges and fees on deposits	\$ 4,551	\$ 4,911	(7.33)%	
Mortgage banking income	4,677	3,961	18.08	
Investment securities gains (losses)	1,158	(11,626)	NCM	
Change in fair value of derivatives	(29)	(266)	NCM	
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance	1,126	1,055	6.73	
Gain on exchange of subordinated debt for common stock	507		NCM	
Other noninterest income	2,750	2,557	7.55	
Total	\$ 14,740	\$ 592	NCM%	

NCM not considered meaningful.

40

#### Noninterest expenses

Noninterest expenses increased \$3.7 million, or 13.5%, and \$9.5 million, or 18.3%, to \$31.5 million and \$61.3 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, from \$27.8 million and \$51.9 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively. These increases were primarily due to increased foreclosure losses, salaries and employee benefits and professional fees. Our foreclosure losses relate to various costs incurred to acquire, maintain and dispose of other real estate acquired through foreclosure. These costs are directly related to the volume of foreclosures, which have increased due to the negative credit cycle. These costs could increase in future periods, depending on the duration of the credit cycle, and have a material impact on our operating expenses. The increase in salaries and employee benefits was primarily related to the expansion of our mortgage operations. Noninterest expenses included the following for the periods indicated:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			
			<b>%</b>	
	2010	2009	Change	
	(Do	llars in thousa	nds)	
Noninterest Expenses				
Salaries and employee benefits	\$ 13,840	\$ 12,304	12.48%	
Occupancy, furniture and equipment expense	4,850	4,503	7.71	
Amortization of core deposit intangibles	869	985	(11.78)	
FDIC assessments	1,853	1,932	(4.09)	
Foreclosure losses	3,358	1,748	92.11	
Professional fees	1,438	1,027	40.02	
Insurance expense	789	612	28.92	
Postage, stationery and supplies	743	760	(2.24)	
Communications expense	780	760	2.63	
Advertising expense	625	787	(20.58)	
Other operating expense	2,388	2,377	0.46	
Total	\$ 31,533	\$ 27,795	13.45%	

	Six Months Ended June 30,			
			<b>%</b>	
	2010	2009	Change	
	(Do	llars in thousa	nds)	
Noninterest Expenses				
Salaries and employee benefits	\$ 28,040	\$ 24,613	13.92%	
Occupancy, furniture and equipment expense	9,613	8,919	7.78	
Amortization of core deposit intangibles	1,739	1,971	(11.77)	
FDIC assessment	3,233	2,389	35.33	
Foreclosure losses	5,935	2,317	156.15	
Professional fees	2,818	1,792	57.25	
Insurance expense	1,527	1,221	25.06	
Postage, stationery and supplies	1,464	1,487	(1.55)	
Communications expense	1,435	1,563	(8.19)	
Advertising expense	1,296	1,337	(3.07)	
Other operating expense	4,242	4,250	(0.19)	
Total	\$61,342	\$ 51,859	18.29%	

Six Months Ended June 30

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Income tax

We recognized income tax expense of \$3.5 million and \$0.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, compared to an income tax benefit of \$4.5 million and \$7.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively. The difference between the effective tax rates in 2010 and the blended federal statutory rate of 34% and state tax rates between 5% and 6% was primarily due to the recognition of an additional \$22.0 million valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets ( DTAs ). Our total valuation allowance was \$23.2 million at June 30, 2010. The difference between the effective and statutory tax rates in 2009 was primarily due to certain tax-exempt income from investments and income reported from insurance policies.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined using the balance sheet method. Under this method, the net deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse. These calculations are based on many complex factors, including estimates of the timing of reversals of temporary differences, the interpretation of federal and state income tax laws, and a determination of the differences between the tax and the financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ significantly from the estimates and interpretations used in determining the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities. See Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors Risks Relating to Our Business elsewhere in this report.

The recognition of DTAs is based upon management s judgment that realization of the asset is more likely than not. Management s judgment is based on estimates concerning various future events and uncertainties, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, the timing and amount of future income earned by our subsidiaries, and the implementation of various tax planning strategies to maximize realization of the DTAs. A complete discussion of management s assessment of the realizability of our DTAs is included in our 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading Critical Accounting Estimates in Management s Discussion and Analysis and in Note 14 to the 2009 consolidated financial statements.

Management evaluates the realizability of DTAs quarterly and, if necessary, adjusts the valuation allowance accordingly. Based on the net loss incurred in the second quarter, management has revised its assessment of the realizability of the DTAs as of June 30, 2010 and recorded a \$23.2 million valuation allowance. As previously disclosed in our 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K, forecasted taxable income is based on several economic scenarios which have been stressed in varying degrees to reflect slower economic recovery than currently anticipated by management. Under the model, this results in additional credit losses with a corresponding impact on the net interest margin. Each scenario is assigned an individual probability of this occurring each year, with the final forecast comprising the scenarios that exceed cumulative probability of 50% (the more likely than not threshold) in any year. Based on the second quarter loss, management revised these assigned probabilities, which reduced the amount of projected taxable income exceeding the more likely than not threshold. This required management to increase the valuation allowance. Additionally, management may further increase the valuation allowance in the near term if estimates of future taxable income are reduced due to further deteriorations in market conditions or the economy, which could produce additional credit losses within the loan and investment portfolios.

# Provision for Loan Losses and Loan Charge-offs

The provision for loan losses was \$50.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010, compared to \$9.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2009. During the three months ended June 30, 2010, we had net charged-off loans totaling \$14.1 million, compared to net charged-off loans of \$7.8 million and \$2.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and June 30, 2009, respectively. The annualized ratio of net charged-off loans to average loans was 2.26% for the three months ended June 30, 2010, compared to 1.27% and 0.39% for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and June 30, 2009, respectively. The allowance for loan losses was \$79.4 million, or 3.20% of loans, net of unearned income, as of June 30, 2010, compared to \$43.2 million, or 1.72%, and \$33.5 million, or 1.40%, as of March 31, 2010 and June 30, 2009, respectively.

42

The following tables show the provision for loan losses, gross and net charge-offs, and the level of allowance for loan losses that resulted from our ongoing assessment of the loan portfolio for the periods indicated:

	For The Three Months Ended							
	J	une 30, 2010	M	arch 31, 2010 (Dollars in		une 30, 2009	Ι	December 31, 2009
Beginning allowance for loan losses Provision for loan losses Total charge-offs Total recoveries	\$	43,190 50,363 14,633 (505)	\$	41,884 9,127 8,087 (266)	\$	29,870 5,982 2,513 (165)	\$	34,336 13,947 6,793 (394)
Net charge-offs		14,128		7,821		2,348		6,399
Ending allowance for loan losses	\$	79,425	\$	43,190	\$	33,504	\$	41,884
Total loans, net of unearned income	\$2	,482,560	\$2	,505,465	\$2	,398,471	\$	2,472,697
Allowance for loan losses to total loans, net of unearned income		3.20%		1.72%		1.40%		1.69%

	For The Six Months			<b>D</b> 11
	En June	ded	Year Ended December	
	30, 2010	June 30, 2009		31, 2009
	(Dollars in thousands)			
Beginning allowance for loan losses	\$41,884	\$ 28,850	\$	28,850
Provision for loan losses	59,490	9,434		28,550
Total charge-offs	22,720	5,322		16,661
Total recoveries	(771)	(542)		(1,145)
Net charge-offs	21,949	4,780		15,516
Ending allowance for loan losses	\$ 79,425	\$ 33,504	\$	41,884

See Financial Condition Allowance for Loan Losses for additional discussion **Results of Segment Operations** 

We have two reportable segments, the Alabama Region and the Florida Region. The Alabama Region consists of operations located throughout Alabama. The Florida Region consists of operations located primarily in the Tampa Bay area and panhandle region of Florida. Please see Note 7 Segment Reporting in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report for additional disclosure regarding our segment reporting. Operating profit (loss) by segment is presented below for the periods indicated:

For the	For the
<b>Three Months Ended</b>	Six Months Ended
June 30,	June 30,

Edgar Filing: SUPERIOR BANCORP - Form 10-Q

	2010	2009 (Dollars in	2010 thousands)	2009
Alabama region	\$ 484	\$ 600	\$ 2,882	\$ 807
Florida region	(6,820)	2,592	(9,815)	4,964
Administrative and other	(43,879)	(13,425)	(52,501)	(22,426)
Income tax expense (benefit)	3,507	(4,539)	28	(7,387)
Consolidated net loss	\$ (53,722)	\$ (5,694)	\$ (59,462)	\$ (9,268)
	43			

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Alabama Region

Operating income was \$0.5 million and \$2.9 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, compared to \$0.6 million and \$0.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, primarily due to an increase in net interest income, partially offset by an increase in the provision for loan losses.

Net interest income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 increased \$1.0 million and \$3.1 million, or 11.3% and 18.2%, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. The increase was the result of a decrease in the average cost of interest-bearing liabilities. See the analysis of net interest income included in the section captioned Net Interest Income elsewhere in this discussion.

The provision for loan losses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 increased \$0.5 million and decreased \$0.2 million, or 32.6% and 5.7%, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. See the analysis of the provision for loan losses included in the section captioned Provision for Loan Losses and Loan Charge-offs elsewhere in this discussion.

Noninterest income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 decreased \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million, or 8.9% and 7.1%, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year, primarily due to a decline in service charges. See the analysis of noninterest income in the section captioned Noninterest Income included elsewhere in this discussion.

Noninterest expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 increased \$0.5 million and \$0.9 million, or 5.1%, for both periods, compared to the same periods in the prior year. This was primarily the result of an increase in the costs of foreclosed assets and was partially offset by a decline in salaries. See additional analysis of noninterest expense included in the section captioned Noninterest Expense included elsewhere in this discussion.

# Florida Region

The Florida segment experienced an operating loss of \$6.8 million and \$9.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, compared to operating income of \$2.6 million and \$5.0 million for the same periods in the prior year. The decrease in profits was primarily the result of an increase in the provision for loan losses. Net interest income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 increased \$1.5 million and \$3.2 million, or 16.5% and 17.3%, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. The increase was the result of a decrease in the average cost of interest-bearing liabilities. See the analysis of net interest income included in the section captioned. Net Interest Income elsewhere in this discussion.

The provision for loan losses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 increased \$10.3 million and \$16.0 million, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. See the analysis of the provision for loan losses included in the section captioned Provision for Loan Losses and Loan Charge-offs elsewhere in this discussion. Noninterest income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 decreased \$0.1 million and \$0.1 million, or 14.8% and 13.5%, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year, primarily due to a decline in service charges. See the analysis of noninterest income in the section captioned Noninterest Income included elsewhere in this discussion.

Noninterest expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 increased \$0.6 million and \$1.8 million, or 10.6% and 15.9%, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year, primarily as a result of an increase in the costs of foreclosed assets and professional fees. See additional analysis of noninterest expense included in the section captioned Noninterest Expense included elsewhere in this discussion.

44

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Fair Value Measurements**

We measure fair value at the price we would receive by selling an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. We prioritize the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (the inputs ) into a three-tier fair value hierarchy. This fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority (Level 1) to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority (Level 3) to unobservable inputs for which little or no market data exists, requiring companies to develop their own assumptions. Observable inputs that do not meet the criteria of Level 1, and include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, are categorized as Level 2. Level 3 inputs are those that reflect management s estimates about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, based on the best information available in the circumstances. Valuation techniques for assets and liabilities measured using Level 3 inputs may include methodologies such as the market approach, the income approach or the cost approach, and may use unobservable inputs such as projections, estimates and management s interpretation of current market data. These unobservable inputs are only utilized to the extent that observable inputs are not available or cost-effective to obtain. As of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, we had \$266.7 million, or 46.0%, and \$213.8 million, or 49.0%, respectively, of total assets valued at fair value that are considered Level 3 valuations using unobservable inputs. As shown in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, available-for-sale securities with a carrying value of \$13.2 million and \$13.3 million, as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively, were included in the Level 3 assets category measured at fair value on a recurring basis. These securities consist primarily of certain private-label mortgage-backed securities (MBS) and collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) backed by pooled trust preferred securities and a single issuer s trust preferred security. As the market for these securities became less active and pricing less reliable, management determined that the trust preferred securities should be transferred to a Level 3 category during the third quarter of 2008, and that six private-label MBS be transferred during the second and third quarters of

Management measures fair value on the trust preferred securities based on various spreads to LIBOR determined after its review of applicable financial data and credit ratings (See Financial Condition Investment Securities below for additional discussion). As of June 30, 2010, the fair values of five private-label MBS totaling \$6.6 million were measured using Level 3 inputs because the market for them has become illiquid, as indicated by few, if any, trades during the period. Prior to June 30, 2009, these securities were measured using Level 2 inputs. The assumptions used in the valuation model include expected future default rates, loss severity and prepayments. The model also takes into account the structure of the security, including credit support. Based on these assumptions, the model calculates and projects the timing and amount of interest and principal payments expected for the security. The discount rates used in the valuation model were based on a yield that the market would require for securities with maturities and risk characteristics similar to the securities being measured (See Financial Condition Investment Securities Mortgage-backed securities ). The remaining Level 3 assets, totaling \$253.5 million, include loans which have been impaired, foreclosed other real estate and other real estate held for sale, which are valued on a nonrecurring basis based on appraisals of the collateral. The value of this collateral is based primarily on appraisals by qualified licensed appraisers approved and hired by management. Appraised and reported values are discounted based on management s historical knowledge, changes in market conditions from the time of valuation, and/or management s expertise and knowledge of the client and the client s business. The collateral is reviewed and evaluated on at least a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly, based on the same factors identified above. See Note 12 to the condensed consolidated financial statements for additional disclosures regarding fair value measurements.

#### **Financial Condition**

Total assets were \$3.358 billion as of June 30, 2010, an increase of \$136.5 million, or 4.2%, from \$3.222 billion as of December 31, 2009. Average total assets for the three months ended June 30, 2010 were \$3.354 billion, and were funded by average total liabilities of \$3.164 billion and average total stockholders equity of \$190.6 million.

#### Short-term liquid assets

Short-term liquid assets (cash and due from banks, interest-bearing deposits in other banks and federal funds sold) increased \$201.4 million to \$301.2 million as of June 30, 2010 from \$99.8 million as of December 31, 2009. As of

June 30, 2010, short-term liquid assets were 9.0% of total assets, compared to 3.1% as of December 31, 2009. We continually monitor our liquidity position and will increase or decrease our short-term liquid assets as we deem necessary. See Liquidity for additional discussion.

45

#### **Investment Securities**

Total investment securities decreased \$16.4 million, or 5.7%, to \$269.9 million as of June 30, 2010, from \$286.3 million as of December 31, 2009. Average investment securities were \$288.6 million and \$286.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, compared to \$322.2 million and \$332.2 million for the same periods in the prior year. Investment securities were 8.7% of interest-earning assets as of June 30, 2010 compared to 10.0% as of December 31, 2009. The investment portfolio produced an average taxable equivalent yield of 4.31% and 4.57% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, compared to 5.52% for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively.

During the second quarter, we sold certain U.S. Agency securities and U.S Agency MBS with combined amortized cost and market values of \$87.4 million and \$89.1 million, respectively. We reinvested a portion of the proceeds into a like amount of U. S Agency MBS guaranteed by the Government National Mortgage Association (Ginnie Mae). This repositioning is expected to reduce the duration of the portfolio and improve risk-based capital. We realized a net gain of approximately \$1.7 million. A portion of these securities had impairment losses of approximately \$0.2 million, which we realized in the first quarter.

#### **Investment Portfolio**

The following table presents the carrying value of securities we held as of the periods indicated:

	Available-for-Sale December			
	June 30,		31,	Percent
	2010			Change
	(D	(Dollars in thousands)		
Investment securities available-for-sale:				
U.S. agency securities	\$ 18,619	\$	53,681	(65.3)%
Mortgage-backed securities:				
U.S. Agency pass-through	112,422		163,724	(31.3)
U.S. Agency collateralized mortgage obligation ( CMO )	84,454		12,759	NCM
Private-label CMO	14,656		16,191	(9.5)
Total MBS	211,532		192,674	9.8
State, county and municipal securities	30,661		31,462	(2.5)
Corporate obligations:				
Corporate debt	4,000		4,000	
Pooled trust preferred securities	3,263		3,203	1.9
Single issue trust preferred securities	1,755		977	79.6
Total corporate obligations	9,018		8,180	10.2
Equity securities	113		313	(63.9)
Total investment securities available-for-sale	\$ 269,943	\$	286,310	(5.7)%
46				

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table summarizes the investment securities with unrealized losses as of June 30, 2010 by aggregated major security type and length of time in a continuous unrealized loss position:

	Less than Fair			n 12 Months Unrealized	Total Fair Unrealized		
	Value	Losses (1)	Value (Dollars	Losses (1) in thousands)	Value	Losses (1)	
Temporarily Impaired Mortgage-backed securities:							
U.S. Agency pass-through Private-label CMO	\$ 23	\$	\$ 240 6,338	\$ 7 1,096	\$ 263 6,338	\$ 7 1,096	
Total MBS	23		6,578	1,103	6,601	1,103	
State, county and municipal securities	5,585	116	1,602	146	7,187	262	
Corporate debt			4,000	101	4,000	101	
Single issue trust preferred securities			1,755	3,245	1,755	3,245	
Total corporate obligations			5,755	3,346	5,755	3,346	
Total temporarily impaired securities  Other-than-temporarily  Impaired  Mortgage-backed	5,608	116	13,935	4,595	19,543	4,711	
securities: Private-label CMO Corporate obligations:			3,021	1,620	3,021	1,620	
Pooled trust preferred securities			3,263	5,025	3,263	5,025	
Total OTTI securities			6,284	6,645	6,284	6,645	
Total temporarily and other-than-temporarily impaired	\$5,608	\$116	\$20,219	\$11,240	\$25,827	\$11,356	

(1) Unrealized losses are included in other comprehensive income (loss), net of

unrealized gains and applicable income taxes.

## Other-Than-Temporary-Impairment

Management evaluates securities for OTTI at least on a quarterly basis. The investment securities portfolio is evaluated for OTTI by segregating the portfolio into the various segments outlined in the tables above and applying the appropriate OTTI model. Investment securities classified as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity are generally evaluated for OTTI according to ASC 320-10 guidance. In addition, certain purchased beneficial interests, which may include private-label mortgage-backed securities, asset-backed securities and collateralized debt obligations that had credit ratings of below AA at the time of purchase are evaluated using the model outlined in ASC 325-40 guidance. In determining OTTI according to FASB guidance, management considers many factors, including: (1) the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, (2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, (3) whether the market decline was affected by macroeconomic conditions and (4) whether we have the intent to sell the debt security or more likely than not will be required to sell the debt security before its anticipated recovery. The assessment of whether an other-than-temporary decline exists involves a high degree of subjectivity and judgment and is based on the information available to management at a point in time.

The pooled trust preferred segment of the portfolio uses the OTTI guidance that is specific to purchased beneficial interests that, on the purchase date, were rated below AA. Under the model, we compare the present value of the remaining cash flows as estimated at the preceding evaluation date to the current expected remaining cash flows. An OTTI is deemed to have occurred if there has been an adverse change in the remaining expected future cash flows. When OTTI occurs under either model, the amount of the OTTI recognized in earnings depends on whether an entity intends to sell the security or it is more likely than not it will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, less any current-period credit loss. If an entity intends to sell, or more likely than not will be required to sell, the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, less any current-period credit loss, the OTTI is recognized in earnings at an amount equal to the entire difference between the investment s amortized cost basis and its fair value at the balance sheet date. If an entity does not intend to sell the security and it is not more likely than not that the entity will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis less any

47

#### **Table of Contents**

current-period loss, the OTTI is separated into the amount representing the credit loss and the amount related to all other factors. The amount of the total OTTI related to the credit loss is determined based on the present value of cash flows expected to be collected and is recognized in earnings. The amount of the total OTTI related to other factors is recognized in other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes. The previous amortized cost basis less the OTTI recognized in earnings becomes the new amortized cost basis of the investment.

As of June 30, 2010, our securities portfolio consisted of 204 securities, 37 of which were in an unrealized loss position. The majority of unrealized losses are related to our private-label CMOs and trust preferred securities, as discussed below.

#### Mortgage-backed securities

As of June 30, 2010, approximately 93% of the dollar volume of MBS we held were issued by U.S. government-sponsored entities and agencies, primarily the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac) and Ginnie Mae, institutions which the government has affirmed its commitment to support, and these securities have nominal unrealized losses. Our MBS portfolio also includes 10 private-label CMOs with a market value of \$14.7 million, which had net unrealized losses of approximately \$2.4 million as of June 30, 2010. These private-label CMOs were rated AAA at purchase. The following is a summary of the investment grades for these securities (Dollars in thousands):

Rating Moody/Fitch	Count	Credit Support Coverage Ratios (1)	Uni	Net realized Loss) Gain
A1/NR	1	3.06	\$	(152)
Aaa/NR	1	4.25		
NR/AAA	1	3.05		110
NR/AA	1	3.12		(240)
B2/AA	1	N/A		(548)
B2/NR	1	4.02		(92)
NR/BBB	1	2.39		(64)
Caa2/CCC (2)	1	0.91		(1,620)
NR/C (2)	2	0.00-0.30		186
Total	10		\$	(2,420)

(1) The Credit
Support
Coverage Ratio
determines the
multiple of
credit support,
based on
assumptions for
the performance
of the loans
within the
delinquency
pipeline. The
assumptions

used are:
Current
Collateral
Support/
((60 day
delinquencies
x.60) + (90 day
delinquencies
x.70) +
(foreclosures x
1.00) + (other
real estate x
1.00)) x .40 for
loss severity.

(2) Includes all private-label CMOs that have OTTI. See discussion that follows.

During the first quarter of 2010, we recognized an immaterial amount of OTTI on one of the private-label CMOs. The assumptions used in the valuation model include expected future default rates, loss severity and prepayments. The model also takes into account the structure of the security, including credit support. Based on these assumptions, the model calculates and projects the timing and amount of interest and principal payments expected for the security. As of June 30, 2010, the fair values of the three private-label CMO securities with OTTI totaling \$3.9 million were measured using Level 3 inputs because the market for them has become illiquid, as indicated by few, if any, trades during the period. The discount rates used in the valuation model were based on a yield that the market would require for securities with maturities and risk characteristics similar to the securities being measured (See Note 12 for additional disclosure). The following table provides additional information regarding these CMO valuations as of June 30, 2010 (Dollars in thousands):

		Discount					Ye	ar-to-Da	te
		Margin				Actual		OTTI	
	Price	Basis		Cumulative	Average	60+ Days	Credit		
Security	(%)	<b>Points</b>	Yield	Default	Security	Delinquent	Portion	Other	Total
CMO 1	19.13	1684	18%	51.87%	50%	7.52%	\$	\$	\$
CMO 2	19.27	1586	17%	48.73%	45%	27.89%			
CMO 4	60.41	1472	17%	29.03%	45%	16.48%	(21)	(2)	(23)
							\$ (21)	\$ (2)	\$ (23)

48

#### **Table of Contents**

During the first quarter of 2010, CMO 3, which had a nominal remaining amortized cost, was completely written off. We do not expect to recover any future cash flows for CMO 3.

As of June 30, 2010, management did not intend to sell these securities, nor did management believe that it is more likely than not that the we will be required to sell the securities before the entire amortized cost basis is recovered.

## State, county and municipal securities

The unrealized losses in the municipal securities portfolio are primarily a reflection of changes in interest rates. This portfolio segment is not experiencing any credit problems as of June 30, 2010. We believe that all contractual cash flows will be received on this portfolio.

As of June 30, 2010, management does not intend to sell these securities, nor did management believe that it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the securities before the entire amortized cost basis is recovered.

## Trust preferred securities

Our investment portfolio includes four CDOs, the collateral of which is pooled trust preferred securities of various financial institutions. We also own a single issuer s trust preferred security. We determined the fair value of the CDOs with the assistance of an external valuation firm. The valuation was accomplished by evaluating all relevant credit and structural aspects of the CDOs, determining appropriate performance assumptions and performing a discounted cash flow analysis. The valuation was structured as follows:

Detailed credit and structural evaluation for each piece of collateral in the CDO;

Collateral performance projections for each piece of collateral in the CDO (default, recovery and prepayment/amortization probabilities);

Terms of the CDO structure, as laid out in the indenture;

The cash flow waterfall (for both interest and principal);

Overcollateralization and interest coverage tests;

Events of default/liquidation;

Mandatory auction call;

Optional redemption;

Hedge agreements; and

Discounted cash flow modeling.

On the basis of the evaluation of collateral credit, and in combination with a review of historical industry default data and current/near-term operating conditions, appropriate default and recovery probabilities are determined for each piece of collateral in the CDO; specifically, we estimate the probability that a given piece of collateral will default in any given year. Next, on the basis of credit factors, like asset quality and leverage, we formulate a recovery assumption for each piece of collateral in the event of a default. For collateral that has already defaulted, we assume no recovery. For collateral that is deferring, we assume a recovery rate of 10%. It is also noted that there is a possibility, in some cases, that deferring collateral will become current at some point in the future. As a result, deferring issuers are evaluated on a case-by-case basis, and, in some instances, based on an analysis of the credit, and assign a probability that the deferral will ultimately cure.

The base-case collateral-specific assumptions are aggregated into cumulative weighted-average default, recovery and prepayment probabilities. In light of generally weakening collateral credit performance and a challenging U.S. credit and real estate environment, our assumptions generally imply a larger amount of collateral defaults during the next three years than that which has been experienced historically, gradually leveling off thereafter.

The discount rates used to determine fair value are intended to reflect the uncertainty inherent in the projection of each CDO s cash flows. Therefore, spreads were chosen that are comparable to spreads observed currently in the market for similarly rated instruments, and such spreads are intended to reflect general market discounts currently applied to structured credit products. The discount rates used to determine the credit portion of the OTTI are equal to the current yield on the issuances as prescribed under ASC 325-40.

49

## **Table of Contents**

The following tables provide various information and fair value model assumptions regarding our CDOs as of June 30, 2010 (Dollars in thousands):

								(	Othe			to-Dat orary-		airment
Name MM Cons Funding	Single/ Pooled	Class/ Tranche	Ar	nortized Cost		Fair alue	Un	realized Loss		redit rtion	Otl	her	T	otal
MM Caps Funding I Ltd MM Community	Pooled	MEZ	\$	2,083	\$	984	\$	(1,099)	\$		\$		\$	
Funding Ltd Preferred Term	Pooled	В		2,026		720		(1,306)		(20)	(	(117)		(137)
Securities V Tpref Funding III	Pooled	MEZ		1,189		434		(755)		(24)				(24)
Ltd Emigrant Capital	Pooled	B-2		2,990	]	1,125		(1,865)		(32)		(64)		(96)
Trust (1)	Single	Sole		5,000	1	1,755		(3,245)						
			\$	13,288	\$ 5	5,018	\$	(8,270)	\$	(76)	\$ (	(181)	\$	(257)
		Lowes	t	Perform	ing	C	Perce Act	eral - ent of		Perforn Collater Percen Expect eferrals	ral - t of ted			cess
Name		Rating	<b>)</b>	Banks			Defa	ults		Defau	lts	Su		lination 2)
MM Caps Funding I	Ltd	Ca	•	21	•			21%			9%			0%
MM Community Fun		Ca		8			2	21%		43	3%			0%
Preferred Term Secur	rities V	Ba3		2				4%		26	5%			0%
Tpref Funding III Ltd	i	Ca		22			2	28%		25	5%			0%
Emigrant Capital Tru	ıst (1)	NR		NA				NA		NA			N	A
										Disco	ount			
						]		Value		Mar	gin			ield
	<b>N</b> .T							ce to	,	<b>.</b>	• • •			asis
	Nan	1e					Pa	ar)	(	Basis I	oints)	)		ints) 18%
MM Caps Funding I	Ltd						\$ 44	1.85		Swap +	- 1700			xed
and the state of t							Ψ.			LIBC				OR +
MM Community Fun	nding Ltd						14	1.40		150				10
•	_									LIBC				OR +
Preferred Term Secur	rities V						31	.52		140	00		2	10
										LIBC	)R +		LIB	OR +
Tpref Funding III Ltd	1						28	3.14		120	00		1	90
										LIBC				OR +
Emigrant Capital Tru	ıst (1)						35	5.10		131	12		2	00

(1) There has been no notification of deferral or default on this issue. An analysis of the company, including discussion with its management, indicates there is adequate capital and liquidity to service the debt. The discount margin of 1312 basis points was derived from implied credit spreads from certain publicly traded trust preferred securities within the issuers peer group.

50

(2) Excess

subordination

represents the

additional

defaults in

excess of both

the current and

projected

defaults the

issue can absorb

before the

security

experiences any

credit

impairment.

**Excess** 

subordination is

calculated by

determining

what level of

defaults an issue

can experience

before the

security has any

credit

impairment and

then subtracting

both the current

and projected

future defaults.

In April 2009, management received notification that interest payments related to New South Capital would be deferred for up to 20 quarters. In addition, New South Capital s external auditor issued a going concern opinion on May 2, 2009. Management determined that there was not sufficient positive evidence that this issue will ever pay principal or interest. Therefore, OTTI was recognized on the full amount of the \$5.0 million New South Capital Trust preferred security during the first quarter of 2009. In December 2009, the banking subsidiary of New South Capital was closed by its regulator and placed into receivership.

In addition to the impact of interest rates, the estimated fair value of these CDOs have been and will continue to be depressed, as a result of the unusual credit conditions that the financial industry has faced since the middle of 2008 and a weakening economy, both of which have severely reduced the demand for these securities and rendered their trading market inactive.

As of June 30, 2010, management does not intend to sell these securities, nor did management believe it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the securities before the entire amortized cost basis is recovered.

The following table provides a roll-forward of the amount of credit-related losses recognized in earnings for which a portion of OTTI has been recognized in other comprehensive income for the period indicated:

For the
Three For the Six
Months Months
Ended Ended

	June 30,		
	2010	June	30, 2010
	(Dollars	in thou	sands)
Balance at beginning of period	\$ 8,886	\$	8,869
Amounts related to credit losses for which an OTTI was not previously			
recognized	450		604
Increases in credit loss for which an OTTI was previously recognized when the			
investor does not intend to sell the security and it is not more likely than not that			
the entity will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized			
cost	51		97
Reductions for securities where there is an intent to sell or requirement to sell			(154)
Reductions for increases in cash flows expected to be collected	(13)		(42)
Balance at end of period	\$ 9.374	\$	9.374

Management will continue to evaluate the investment ratings in the securities portfolio, severity in pricing declines, market price quotes along with timing and receipt of amounts contractually due. Based upon these and other factors, the securities portfolio may experience further impairment.

## Stock in the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (FHLB Atlanta)

As of June 30, 2010, we had stock in FHLB Atlanta in the amount of \$18.2 million (its par value), which is presented separately on the face of our statement of financial condition. There is no ready market for the stock and no quoted market values, as only member institutions are eligible to be shareholders and all transactions are, by charter, to take place at par with FHLB Atlanta as the only purchaser. Therefore, we account for this investment as a long-term asset and carry it at cost. Management reviews this stock quarterly for impairment and conducts its analysis in accordance with ASC 942-325-35-3.

Management s determination as to whether this investment is impaired is based on management s assessment of the ultimate recoverability of its par value (cost) rather than recognizing temporary declines in its value. The determination of whether the decline affects the ultimate recoverability of our investment is influenced by available information regarding criteria such as:

the significance of the decline in net assets of FHLB Atlanta as compared to the capital stock amount for FHLB Atlanta and the length of time this decline has persisted;

commitments by FHLB Atlanta to make payments required by law or regulation and the level of such payments in relation to the operating performance of FHLB Atlanta;

51

#### **Table of Contents**

the impact of legislative and regulatory changes on financial institutions and, accordingly, on the customer base of FHLB Atlanta; and

the liquidity position of FHLB Atlanta.

Management has reviewed publicly available information regarding the financial condition of FHLB Atlanta and concluded that no impairment existed based on its assessment of the ultimate recoverability of the par value of the investment. FHLB Atlanta reported net income of \$48 million for the first quarter of 2010, an increase of approximately \$50 million from a net loss of approximately \$2 million for the first quarter of 2009. On May 11, 2010, FHLB Atlanta announced the approval of an annualized dividend rate for the first quarter of 2010 of 0.26% compared to no dividends in the first quarter of 2009. During the second quarter of 2009, FHLB Atlanta reinstated its dividend at rates of 0.84%, 0.41% and 0.27%, for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2009, respectively, resulting in an annualized dividend rate of 0.38%. The Board of FHLB Atlanta made a decision to retain a larger portion of earnings and significantly higher capital ratios than in previous years. On the basis of a review of the financial condition, cash flow, liquidity and asset quality indicators of FHLB Atlanta as of the end of the first quarter of 2010, management has concluded that no impairment exists on our investment in the stock of FHLB Atlanta. This is a long-term investment that serves a business purpose of enabling us to enhance the liquidity of our subsidiary, Superior Bank, through access to the lending facilities of FHLB Atlanta. For the foregoing reasons, management believes that FHLB Atlanta s current position does not indicate that our investment will not be recoverable at par, the cost, and thus the investment was not impaired as of June 30, 2010.

#### Loans

## Composition of Loan Portfolio, Yield Changes and Diversification

Our loans, net of unearned income, were \$2.483 billion as of June 30, 2010, an increase of \$9.9 million from \$2.473 billion as of December 31, 2009. Mortgage loans held for sale were \$54.8 million as of June 30, 2010, a decrease of 23.7%, or \$17.1 million, from \$71.9 million as of December 31, 2009. Average loans, including mortgage loans held for sale, for the three months ended June 30, 2010 were \$2.566 billion, compared to \$2.463 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009. Loans, net of unearned income, comprised 80.3% of interest-earning assets as of June 30, 2010, compared to 85.4% as of December 31, 2009. Mortgage loans held for sale comprised 1.8% of interest-earning assets as of June 30, 2010, compared to 2.5% as of December 31, 2009. The average yield of the loan portfolio was 5.66%, 5.81% and 5.84% for the three months ended June 30, 2010, March 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively. The decrease in the average yield was primarily the result of a generally lower level of market rates and the effect of increasing nonaccrual loans.

The following table details the distribution of our loan portfolio by category for the periods presented:

## **Distribution of Loans by Category**

	June 3	30, 2010	<b>December 31, 2009</b>		
		Percent		Percent	
		of		of	
	Amount	Total	Amount	Total	
		(Dollars in t	housands)		
Commercial and industrial	\$ 186,954	7.52%	\$ 213,329	8.62%	
Real estate construction and land development	680,364	27.37	680,445	27.48	
Real estate mortgages					
Single-family	701,220	28.21	691,364	27.93	
Commercial	829,081	33.35	801,813	32.39	
Other	31,201	1.26	28,885	1.17	
Consumer	56,139	2.26	58,785	2.37	
Other	844	0.03	969	0.04	
Total loans	2,485,803	100.00%	2,475,590	100.00%	

Unearned income Allowance for loan losses	(3,243) (79,425)	(2,893) (41,884)
Net loans	\$ 2,403,135	\$ 2,430,813
	52	

## **Table of Contents**

**Table of Contents** 

The following table shows the amount of total loans, net of unearned income, by segment and the percent change for the periods indicated:

**June 30,** 

2010

December 31,

2009

**Percent** 

Change

84

	2010	2009		Cnange
	(Dol	llars in thousa	ands)	
Total loans, net of unearned income	\$2,482,560	\$2,472,69		0.4%
Alabama segment	991,418	996,54		(0.5)
Florida segment	1,219,000	1,213,20		0.5
Other	272,142	262,95		3.5
A further analysis of the components of our real estate construction	· ·	,		
loans for the periods indicated is as follows:	ni anu ianu uevelop	iliciit aliu icai	estate II	liorigage
ioans for the periods indicated is as follows.				
	Residential	Commerci	· - 1	
				T-4-1
	Development	Developme		Total
	(D	Pollars in thou	usanas)	
Real estate construction and land development				
A CX 20 2010				
As of June 30, 2010	Φ 150 <b>2</b> 04	Φ 07.4	20	Φ <b>2.45</b> .622
Alabama segment	\$ 158,204	\$ 87,4		\$ 245,633
Florida segment	121,115	281,3		402,432
Other	9,532	22,7	67	32,299
	<b></b>	<b>.</b>		A 600 <b>3</b> 64
Total	\$ 288,851	\$ 391,5	13	\$ 680,364
4 CD 4 21 2000				
As of December 31, 2009	h 4 62 0 0 0	<b>.</b>	•	<b>***</b>
Alabama segment	\$ 163,978	\$ 102,3		\$ 266,317
Florida segment	129,590	265,7		395,357
Other	7,856	10,9	15	18,771
T . 1	ф 201 4 <b>2</b> 4	Φ 270.0	0.1	Φ.COO.445
Total	\$ 301,424	\$ 379,0	21	\$ 680,445
		Single-		
		family	C	ommercial
		•		usands)
Real estate mortgages		(Dullar)	s iii tiio	usanus)
Real estate mortgages				
As of June 30, 2010				
Alabama segment		\$419,831	\$	314,347
Florida segment		226,759	Ψ	470,047
Other		54,630		44,687
Other		34,030		44,007
Total		\$701,220	\$	829,081
10141		Ψ /01,220	Ψ	027,001
As of December 31, 2009				
Alabama segment		\$ 461,365	\$	296,520
Florida segment		189,245	Ψ	475,218
Other		40,754		30,075
Oulci		70,734		50,075

Total \$691,364 \$ 801,813

#### **Allowance for Loan Losses**

#### Overview

It is the responsibility of management to assess and maintain the allowance for loan losses at a level it believes is appropriate to absorb the estimated credit losses within our loan portfolio through the provision for loan losses. The determination of our allowance for loan losses is based on management s analysis of the credit quality of the loan portfolio including its judgment regarding certain internal and external factors that affect loan collectability. This process is performed on a quarterly basis under the oversight of the Board of Directors. The estimation of the allowance for loan losses is based on two basic components—those estimations calculated in accordance with the requirements of ASC 450-20, and those specific impairments under ASC 310-35 (see discussions below). The calculation of the allowance for loan losses is inherently subjective, and actual losses could be greater or less than the estimates.

53

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **ASC 450-20**

Under ASC 450-20, estimated losses on all loans that have not been identified with specific impairment under ASC 310-35 are calculated based on the historical loss ratios applied to our standard loan categories using a rolling average adjusted for certain qualitative risk factors, as shown below. In addition to these standard loan categories, management may identify other areas of risk based on its analysis of such qualitative risk factors and estimate additional losses as it deems necessary. The qualitative risk factors that management uses in its estimate include, but are not limited to, the following:

trends in volume;

effects of changes in credit concentrations;

levels of and trends in delinquencies, classified loans and non-performing assets;

levels of and trends in charge-offs and recoveries;

changes in lending policies and underwriting guidelines;

national and local economic trends and condition; and

mergers and acquisitions.

#### ASC 310-35

Pursuant to ASC 310-35, impaired loans are loans that are specifically reviewed and for which it is probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the terms of the loan agreement (see *Impaired Loans* below). Impairment is measured by comparing the recorded investment in the loan with the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan s effective interest rate, at the loan s observable market price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. A valuation allowance is provided to the extent that the measure of the impaired loans is less than the recorded investment. A loan is not considered impaired during a period of delay in payment if we continue to expect that all amounts due will ultimately be collected according to the terms of the loan agreement. Our Credit Administration department maintains supporting documentation regarding collateral valuations and/or discounted cash flow analyses.

54

## **Table of Contents**

The following table summarizes certain information with respect to our allowance for loan losses and the composition of charge-offs and recoveries for the periods indicated:

## **Summary of Loan Loss Experience**

	Three Mor	nths Ended	Six Month	Year Ended December	
	June 2010	2009	June 2010	2009	31, 2009
		(De	ollars in thousan	ds)	
Allowance for loan losses at					
beginning of period	\$ 43,190	\$ 29,870	\$ 41,884	\$ 28,850	\$ 28,850
Charge-offs:					
Commercial and industrial	2,880	141	2,935	197	1,390
Real estate construction and					
land development	7,503	131	13,095	1,055	4,870
Real estate mortgage					
Single-family	2,751	821	3,803	1,368	5,372
Commercial	712	508	1,254	848	1,094
Other		7		186	210
Consumer	736	707	1,440	1,402	3,346
Other	51	198	193	266	379
Total charge-offs Recoveries:	14,633	2,513	22,720	5,322	16,661
Commercial and industrial	27	41	50	100	161
	27	41	59	108	161
Real estate construction and	4	(	20	26	<b>C</b> 0
land development	4	6	20	26	68
Real estate mortgage	26	21	0.1	22	7.1
Single-family	36	21	91	32	71
Commercial	311	2	335	5	277
Other	14	19	61	217	251
Consumer	64	41	134	83	186
Other	49	35	71	71	131
Total recoveries	505	165	771	542	1,145
Net charge-offs	14,128	2,348	21,949	4,780	15,516
Provision for loan losses	50,363	5,982	59,490	9,434	28,550
Allowance for loan losses at					
end of period	\$ 79,425	\$ 33,504	\$ 79,425	\$ 33,504	\$ 41,884
Loons at and of action and act of					
Loans at end of period, net of unearned income	\$ 2,482,560	\$ 2,398,471	\$ 2,482,560	\$ 2,398,471	\$ 2,472,697
Average loans, net of unearned income	2,512,856	2,387,078	2,502,589	2,364,676	2,401,805
Ratio of ending allowance to	2,312,030	4,501,010	4,304,309	<i>2,3</i> 0 <del>4</del> ,070	2,401,003
ending loans	3.20%	1.40%	3.20%	1.40%	1.69%

Edgar Filing: SUPERIOR BANCORP - Form 10-Q

0.65
4.35
7.04
6.25
5

#### **Table of Contents**

The allowance as a percentage of loans, net of unearned income, as of June 30, 2010 was 3.20%, compared to 1.72% and 1.69% as of March 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively.

The allowance for loan losses as a percentage of nonperforming loans, excluding TDRs, increased to 34.32% as of June 30, 2010 from 24.27% as of March 31, 2010 and 26.25% as of December 31, 2009. Approximately \$38.2 million of the allowance for loan losses was specifically allocated to nonperforming loans as of June 30, 2010. As of June 30, 2010, nonperforming loans were \$231.4 million, of which \$227.3 million, or 98.2%, were loans secured by real estate compared to \$173.7 million, or 97.6%, as of March 31, 2010. See Nonperforming Assets .

## Three Months Ended June 30, 2010 compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2010

Net charge-offs increased \$6.3 million, to \$14.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010 from \$7.8 million during the three months ended March 31, 2010. Of the \$14.1 million, \$8.4 million was related to a single relationship totaling approximately \$21.3 million. The remaining \$12.9 million of this relationship was classified as nonperforming during the second quarter. Net charge-offs of real estate loans increased \$3.6 million to \$10.6 million. Net charge-offs of commercial loans increased by \$2.8 million to \$2.8 million. Net charge-offs of consumer loans decreased by \$0.1 million to \$0.7 million. Net charge-offs as a percentage of the allowance for loan losses were 71.34% for the three months ended June 30, 2010, down slightly from 73.44% for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and up from 28.11% for three months ended June 30, 2009.

Net charge-offs related to construction and land development real estate loans increased \$1.9 million, to \$7.5 million during the three months ended June 30, 2010, from \$5.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2010. Residential construction and land development net charge-offs accounted for \$6.9 million, or 92.4%, of the total losses from this portfolio, with \$0.6 million, or 7.6%, coming from commercial real estate construction and land development. Of the commercial purpose loan losses, all were located in Florida.

## Six Months Ended June 30, 2010 compared to the Six Months Ended June 30, 2009

Net charge-offs increased \$17.2 million, to \$21.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010 from \$4.8 million during the six months ended June 30, 2009. Net charge-offs of real estate loans increased \$14.5 million to \$17.6 million. Net charge-offs of commercial loans increased by \$2.8 million to \$2.9 million. Net charge-offs of consumer loans decreased \$0.1 million to \$1.4 million. Net charge-offs as a percentage of the allowance for loan losses were 55.73% for the six months ended June 30, 2010, up from 28.77% for the six months ended June 30, 2009. Net charge-offs related to construction and land development real estate loans increased \$12.1 million, to \$13.1 million, during the six months ended June 30, 2010, from \$1.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2009. Residential construction and land development net charge-offs accounted for \$11.1 million, or 84.9%, of the total losses from this portfolio, with \$2.0 million, or 15.1%, coming from commercial real estate residential construction and land development. Of the commercial loan losses, \$1.9 million, or 96.9%, were located in Florida.

## Allocation of the Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses calculation is segregated into various segments that include specific allocations for loans, portfolio segments and general allocations for portfolio risk.

Risk ratings are subject to independent review by internal loan review, which also performs ongoing, independent review of the risk management process. The risk management process includes underwriting, documentation and collateral control. Loan review is centralized and independent of the lending function. The loan review results are reported to senior management and the Audit and Enterprise Risk Management Committee of the Board of Directors. Credit Administration relies upon the independent work of loan review in risk rating in developing its recommendations to the Audit and Enterprise Risk Management Committee of the Board of Directors for the allocation of the allowance for loan losses, and performs this function independent of the lending area of Superior Bank.

We historically have allocated our allowance for loan losses to specific loan categories. Although the allowance for loan losses is allocated, it is available to absorb losses in the entire loan portfolio. This allocation is made for estimation purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the allocation between categories in which future losses may occur, nor is it limited to the categories to which it is allocated.

56

#### Allocation of the Allowance for Loan Losses

	June 30, 2010 Decemb			er 31, 2009		
	Percent of Loans in Each Category to Total			Percent of Loans in Each Category to Total		
	Amount	Loans	Amount	Loans		
		(Dollars in t	thousands)			
Commercial and industrial	\$ 5,975	7.5%	\$ 2,356	8.6%		
Real estate construction and land development	43,392	27.4	17,971	27.5		
Real estate mortgages						
Single-family	16,860	28.2	12,342	27.9		
Commercial	11,142	33.3	7,019	32.4		
Other	209	1.3	371	1.2		
Consumer	1,847	2.3	1,825	2.4		
Total	\$ 79,425	100.0%	\$41,884	100.0%		

During the second quarter of 2010, we experienced (1) a migration of performing classified loans into non-performing status, (2) an increase in TDRs resulting from workout activity, and (3) an increase in collateral impairments relative to other external factors such as short sales and deteriorated values in comparable properties. These factors created the need for increased loan provision during the second quarter of 2010. In addition, management identified approximately \$549 million in loans to customers that could be directly or indirectly impacted by the spill with the majority of these customers being located along or near the Alabama and northwest Florida coast. Within this group, \$149 million, or 27%, can be categorized as beachfront properties, which could be more directly impacted by this spill. Four major loan categories were identified as being most susceptible to the impact of the spill: real estate construction, single-family mortgage loans, commercial real estate mortgage ( CRE ) loans, and commercial and industrial ( C & I ) loans. Given the added exposure in these categories related to the spill, coupled with the current recessionary impact already in place, management has allocated approximately \$7.8 million in reserves to real estate construction, single family mortgage, commercial real estate mortgage, and C & I loans, which represents an increase of approximately \$3.0 million from \$4.8 million, the balance at March 31, 2010. Management believes that these additional reserves will be adequate to cover any losses directly associated with the spill. The areas anticipated to be most affected by the long-term impact, if any, resulting from the spill will primarily be along the Louisiana and Mississippi coasts, with Alabama and Florida being impacted to a lesser degree. All of Superior Bank s beachfront exposure is in Alabama and Florida, with the majority in Florida where the impact is anticipated to be the least. It is also worthwhile to note that a significant portion of the identified beachfront properties are hospitality-related. While tourism traffic is down, both due to economic factors as well the public s concern over the spill, the decrease in tourism traffic has been somewhat offset by the influx of workers engaged in cleanup and recovery efforts. In light of these factors, management believes that the increased level of allowance for loan losses is adequate. In addition, the historical loss ratio used to estimate the allowance for loan losses increased significantly during the second quarter of 2010. This ratio is based on a four-quarter rolling average and has been affected by the level of charge-offs during 2010.

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, we increased the allowance for loan losses related to construction and land development real estate loans by \$25.4 million, from \$18.0 million as of December 31, 2009 to \$43.4 million as of June 30, 2010, because of continued weakness and increasing levels of risk due to general economic conditions in the construction and land development real estate markets throughout our franchise.

Our allocation of the allowance for loan losses related to single-family mortgage loans increased to \$16.9 million as of June 30, 2010 from \$12.3 million as of December 31, 2009. This allocation reflects the continued risk exposure due to the current downturn in the national economy and the effect on the housing sector which has increased our foreclosure activity within this portfolio. As of June 30, 2010, only 5.3% of our loans secured by single family properties had a loan-to-value ( LTV ) that was 90% or greater and were without private mortgage insurance ( PMI ) or other government guarantee.

Before the end of the third quarter, management expects to receive updated appraisals on approximately \$112.1 million in collateral securing various real estate loans. Any changes in these appraisals may have a significant impact on the level of the specific reserve allocations in the third quarter. As of June 30, 2010, management believes it has estimated adequate general reserves to absorb any additional specific reserves that may be required by the updated appraisals.

57

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Nonperforming Assets**

Nonperforming assets increased \$51.9 million, or 23.1%, to \$276.9 million as of June 30, 2010 from \$225.0 million as of March 31, 2010. As a percentage of net loans plus nonperforming assets, nonperforming assets increased to 10.95% as of June 30, 2010 from 8.82% as of March 31, 2010. The overall increase in nonperforming assets was primarily related to our real estate construction loan and commercial mortgage loan portfolios. The majority of the net increase in nonperforming real estate construction related to 13 real estate construction credits over \$1.0 million totaling \$38.9 million. Seven of these large credits, totaling \$21.9 million, were located in Florida with the remainder in Alabama. The commercial real estate increase was the result of four commercial real estate credits, totaling \$7.9 million, primarily in the hospitality category. Three of these credits, totaling \$6.1 million, were located in Florida. In all cases, management continues to actively work to mitigate the risks of loss across all categories of the loan portfolio. The following table shows our nonperforming assets for the periods indicated:

		D	ecember
	June 30,		31,
	2010		2009
	(Dollars i	n thou	sands)
Nonaccrual	\$ 215,891	\$	155,631
Accruing loans 90 days or more delinquent	15,547		3,920
Total nonperforming loans	231,438		159,551
Other real estate owned assets	45,184		41,618
Repossessed assets	322		380
Total nonperforming assets	\$ 276,944	\$	201,549
Restructured and performing under restructured terms, net of specific			
allowance	\$ 147,588	\$	110,777
	0.22		C 4500
Nonperforming loans as a percentage of loans	9.32%		6.45%
Nonperforming assets as a percentage of loans plus nonperforming assets	10.95%		8.01%
Nonperforming assets as a percentage of total assets	8.25%		6.26%
58			

#### **Table of Contents**

OREO sales activity.

The following is a summary of nonperforming loans by category for the periods indicated:

	June 30, 2010		December 31, 2009	
	(Dollar	s in thou	ısands)	
Commercial and industrial	\$ 3,030	\$	1,797	
Real estate construction and land development				
Residential	81,464		23,818	
Commercial	52,385		49,240	
Real estate mortgages				
Single-family	54,007		52,323	
Commercial	39,091		30,343	
Other	336		436	
Consumer	834		734	
Other	291		860	
Total nonperforming loans	\$ 231,438	\$	159,551	

A delinquent loan is ordinarily placed on nonaccrual status no later than when it becomes 90 days past due and management believes, after considering economic and business conditions and collection efforts, that the borrower's financial condition is such that the collection of interest is doubtful. When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, all unpaid interest which has been accrued on the loan during the current period is reversed and deducted from earnings as a reduction of reported interest income; any prior period accrued and unpaid interest is reversed and charged against the allowance for loan losses. No additional interest income is accrued on the loan balance until the collection of both principal and interest becomes reasonably certain. When a problem loan is finally resolved, there may be an actual write-down or charge-off of the principal balance of the loan to the allowance for loan losses.

As of June 30, 2010, single-family residential mortgages accounted for \$54.0 million, or 23.3%, of total nonperforming loans, up \$3.2 million from \$50.8 million as of March 31, 2010. Foreclosure activity during the three months ended June 30, 2010 resulted in \$11.0 million of new foreclosures, with residential construction properties accounting for \$6.2 million, or 56.1%; single family residential properties accounting for \$3.5 million, or 32.4%; and CRE properties accounting for another \$1.3 million, or 11.5%. Approximately 75% of foreclosures originated in Alabama and the remaining 25% originated in Florida. Our OREO acquired through foreclosure was \$45.2 million as of June 30, 2010 a decrease of \$1.5 million from \$46.7 million as of March 31, 2010, which resulted from increased

The following is a summary of OREO by category for the periods indicated:

	June 30, 2010	De	31, 2009
	(Dollars	in thou	isands)
Acreage	\$ 4,844	\$	2,251
Commercial buildings	6,177		5,226
Residential condominiums	1,952		2,730
Residential single-family homes	16,753		15,696
Residential lots	12,022		14,613
Other	3,436		1,102
Other real estate owned	\$ 45,184	\$	41,618

#### **Table of Contents**

Other real estate, acquired through partial or total satisfaction of loans, is carried at the lower of cost or fair value, less estimated selling expenses. At the date of acquisition, any difference between the fair value and book value of the asset is charged to the allowance for loan losses. The value of other foreclosed real estate collateral is determined based on appraisals by qualified licensed appraisers approved and hired by our management. Appraised and reported values are discounted based on management s historical knowledge, changes in market conditions from the time of valuation, and/or management s expertise and knowledge of the client and the client s business. Foreclosed real estate is reviewed and evaluated on at least a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly, based on the same factors identified above.

#### **Impaired Loans**

As of June 30, 2010, our recorded investment in impaired loans, under ASC 310-35 was \$399.7 million, an increase of \$109.7 million from \$290.0 million as of March 31, 2010. Approximately \$272.1 million was located in the Florida Region, \$114.4 million was located in the Alabama Region, and \$13.2 million was located in other areas. Approximately \$47.2 million of the allowance for loan losses was specifically allocated to these loans, providing 11.8% coverage. Additionally, \$396.3 million, or 99.1%, of the \$399.7 million in impaired loans was secured by real estate.

The following is a summary of impaired loans and the specifically allocated allowance for loan losses by category for the periods indicated:

	<b>June 30, 2010</b>		December	er 31, 2009	
	Oustanding Specific Balance Allowance		Oustanding Balance	Specific Allowance	
		(Dollars in	thousands)		
Commercial and industrial	\$ 3,443	\$ 1,825	\$ 3,032	\$ 1,053	
Real estate construction and land development					
Residential	114,141	18,155	31,912	3,044	
Commercial	80,335	10,409	82,356	3,675	
Real estate mortgages					
Single-family	67,492	8,839	53,229	5,005	
Commercial	132,211	7,824	109,222	1,686	
Other	2,123	147	500	62	
Consumer			97	2	
Total	\$ 399,745	\$ 47,199	\$ 280,348	\$ 14,527	

At the time a loan is identified as impaired, it is evaluated and valued at the lower of cost or fair value. For collateral dependent loans, of which \$205.0 million is included above and primarily secured by real estate, fair value is measured based on the value of the collateral securing these loans and is classified at a Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The value of real estate collateral is determined based on appraisals by qualified licensed appraisers approved and hired by management. The value of business equipment is determined based on appraisals by qualified licensed appraisers approved and hired by management, if significant. Appraised and reported values are discounted based on management s historical knowledge, changes in market conditions from the time of valuation, and/or management s expertise and knowledge of the client and client s business.

Our other impaired loans are measured based on the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the loan's effective interest rate. Impairment measured under this method is comprised primarily of loans considered TDRs where the terms of these loans have been restructured based on the expected future cash flows. Included in our impaired loans are nonperforming loans with specific impairment and loans considered TDRs. A restructuring of debt constitutes a TDR if for economic or legal reasons related to borrower's financial difficulties we grant a concession to the borrower that we would not otherwise consider.

All impaired loans are reviewed and evaluated on at least a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly.

60

The following is a summary of our TDRs as of June 30, 2010:

	Restructured							
	Ou		S <sub>l</sub> All	ce	Ou: B	rith restru standing alance	ordano ictured S <sub>l</sub>	ee
Alabama:			(	Donarsii	ii iiiou	saiius)		
Commercial and industrial Real estate construction and land development Real estate mortgages	\$	4,155	\$	274	\$		\$	
Single-family Commercial Consumer		11,435 22,846		441 382		2,210		622
Total	\$	38,436	\$	1,097	\$	2,210	\$	622
Florida Commercial and industrial Real estate construction and land development	\$	909 37,895	\$	857 734	\$	304 1,291	\$	7 8
Real estate mortgages Single-family Commercial Consumer		9,691 69,653		800 5,508		4,581 3,310		1,065
Total	\$	118,148	\$	7,899	\$	9,486	\$	1,080
Total  Commercial and industrial  Real estate construction and land development  Real estate mortgages  Single-family	\$	909 42,050 21,126	\$	857 1,008 1,241	\$	304 1,291 6,791	\$	7 8 1,687
Commercial Consumer Total	\$	92,499 156,584	\$	5,890 8,996	\$	3,310 11,696	\$	1,702
			•				•	

#### Potential Problem Loans

In addition to nonperforming loans, management has identified \$40.2 million in potential problem loans as of June 30, 2010. Potential problem loans are loans where known information about possible credit problems of the borrowers causes management to have doubts as to the ability of such borrowers to comply with the present repayment terms. Potential problem loans may become nonperforming loans in future periods. Three categories accounted for 94.0% of total potential problem loans. Real estate construction loans account for 41.0% of the total, and single family residential loans and commercial real estate loans accounted for 36.2% and 16.8%, respectively. Geographically, 51.2% of the loans were located in Florida, with the remainder located in Alabama. In each case, management is

actively working a plan of action to ensure that any loss exposure is mitigated and will continue to monitor the cash flow and collateral characteristics of each credit. Included in potential problem loans are four relationships exceeding \$1.0 million that total \$16.6 million. The remaining \$23.6 million all represent relationships of less than \$1.0 million.

61

#### **Deposits**

Noninterest-bearing deposits were \$275.7 million as of June 30, 2010, an increase of 7.0%, or \$18.0 million, from \$257.7 million as of December 31, 2009. Noninterest-bearing deposits were 9.7% of total deposits as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009.

Interest-bearing deposits were \$2.563 billion as of June 30, 2010, an increase of 6.8%, or \$164.0 million, from \$2.399 billion as of December 31, 2009. Interest-bearing deposits averaged \$2.484 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2010 compared to \$2.256 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2009. The average rate paid on all interest-bearing deposits during the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, was 0.93% and 1.29%, respectively. As shown below, there were significant increases in our demand and savings deposits within our reportable segments that represent core deposits received through our branch network. Growth in our core deposit base has largely been concentrated in 22 de novo branches opened between 2006 and 2010, which have grown to \$539.7 million as of June 30, 2010. Of this growth, \$106.9 million occurred in the six months ended June 30, 2010. This expansion of our core funding has significantly improved our liquidity and has enabled us to grow earning assets while reducing reliance on borrowings and other non-core sources.

The following table sets forth the composition of our total deposit accounts as of the periods indicated:

	December			
	June 30,		31,	Percent
	2010		2009	Change
	(Dollars i	(Dollars in thousands)		
Noninterest-bearing demand	\$ 275,712	\$	257,744	7.0%
Alabama segment	146,612		137,160	6.9
Florida segment	123,377		103,621	19.1
Other	5,723		16,963	(66.3)
Interest-bearing demand	650,402		690,677	(5.8)
Alabama segment	393,635		385,246	2.2
Florida segment	246,222		233,740	5.3
Other	10,545		71,691	(85.3)
Savings	365,249		284,430	28.4
Alabama segment	181,469		151,263	20.0
Florida segment	181,618		131,185	38.4
Other	2,162		1,982	9.1
Time deposits	1,547,158		1,423,722	8.7
Alabama segment	725,442		663,510	9.3
Florida segment	625,914		555,262	12.7
Other	195,802		204,950	(4.5)
Total deposits	\$ 2,838,521	\$	2,656,573	6.8%
Alabama segment	\$ 1,447,158	\$	1,337,179	8.2%
Florida segment	\$ 1,177,131	\$	1,023,808	15.0%
Other	\$ 214,232	\$	295,586	(27.5)%

#### **Borrowings**

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, average borrowed funds decreased \$25.6 million, or 8.7%, to \$268.4 million, from \$294.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The average rate paid on borrowed funds during the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 was 3.80%, and 3.18%, respectively. Because of a relatively high

loan-to-deposit ratio, the existence and stability of these funding sources are important to our maintenance of short-term and long-term liquidity.

As of June 30, 2010, advances from the FHLB decreased \$2.0 million to \$216.3 million from \$218.3 million as of December 31, 2009. FHLB Atlanta advances had a weighted average interest rate of approximately 3.71% as of June 30, 2010. The advances are secured by FHLB Atlanta stock, agency securities and a blanket lien on certain residential real estate loans and commercial loans, all with a carrying value of approximately \$940.0 million as of June 30, 2010. We had approximately \$139.8 million available in unused advances under the blanket lien subject to the availability of qualifying collateral.

62

## Stockholders Equity

#### **Overview**

Our stockholders equity was \$149.3 million as of June 30, 2010 compared to \$191.7 million as of December 31, 2009. The decrease was primarily due to the net loss for the period, partially offset by the preferred stock issuances and the exchange of trust preferred debt for common stock discussed below.

During the second quarter, we issued \$11.1 million in liquidation value of our Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (Preferred Stock) for an equal amount of cash. In addition, we issued \$0.3 million in liquidation value of our Series C Preferred Stock for an equal amount of cash. We also consummated our agreement with Cambridge Savings Bank and exchanged \$3.5 million of our outstanding non-pooled trust preferred securities for 849,156 newly issued shares of our common stock, which resulted in an increase to our common equity of \$2.9 million and a gain on exchange of debt in the amount of \$0.5 million, net of tax. Please refer to the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders Equity and Note 13 *Stockholders Equity* to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

## Other Comprehensive Income

Table of Contents

The components of other comprehensive (loss) income for the periods indicated are as follows:

	Pre-Tax		Income Tax			Net of Income	
	Aı	nount	Expense (Dollars in thousand			Tax	
Three Months Ended June 30, 2010			(Donar	s in thousar	ius)		
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities	\$	4,031	\$	(1,491)	\$	2,540	
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net loss		(1,356)		502		(854)	
Unrealized gain on derivatives		24		(9)		15	
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net loss		(13)		5		(8)	
Net unrealized gain	\$	2,686	\$	(993)	\$	1,693	
Three Months Ended June 30, 2009							
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities	\$	(3,660)	\$	1,354	\$	(2,306)	
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net loss		5,781		(2,139)		3,642	
Unrealized gain on derivatives		354		(131)		223	
Net unrealized gain	\$	2,475	\$	(916)	\$	1,559	
Six Months Ended June 30, 2010							
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities	\$	5,571	\$	(2,061)	\$	3,510	
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net loss		(1,158)		428		(730)	
Unrealized loss on derivatives		(134)		51		(83)	
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net loss		(13)		5		(8)	
Net unrealized gain	\$	4,266	\$	(1,577)	\$	2,689	
Six Months Ended June 30, 2009							
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities	\$(	12,054)	\$	4,459	\$	(7,595)	
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net loss		11,626		(4,302)		7,324	
Unrealized gain on derivatives		325		(120)		205	

101

Net unrealized loss \$ (103) \$ 37 \$ (66)

Please refer to the Financial Condition Investment Securities section for additional discussion regarding the realized/unrealized gains and losses on the investment securities portfolio.

63

#### Regulatory Capital

The table below represents Superior Bank s regulatory and minimum regulatory capital requirements for the period indicated:

					To Be	Well
			For	r	Capitalize	d Under
			Capital Ad	dequacy	Prompt Co	orrective
	Actual		Purpo		Action	
	Amount	Ratio	Amount	Ratio	Amount	Ratio
		144010	(Dollars in t			144010
Superior Bank			·	•		
June 30, 2010						
Tier 1 Core Capital (to						
Adjusted Total Assets)	\$187,183	5.64%	\$132,727	4.00%	\$165,909	5.00%
Total Capital (to Risk Weighted						
Assets)	229,408	8.85	207,397	8.00	259,247	10.00
Tier 1 Capital (to Risk						
Weighted Assets)	187,183	7.22	NA	NA	155,548	6.00
Tangible Capital (to Adjusted						
Total Assets)	187,183	5.64	49,773	1.50	NA	NA
Liquidity						

Our principal sources of funds are deposits, principal and interest payments on loans, federal funds sold and maturities and sales of investment securities. In addition to these sources of liquidity, we have access to purchased funds from several regional financial institutions, the Federal Reserve Discount Window, and may borrow from the FHLB Atlanta under a blanket floating lien on certain commercial loans and residential real estate loans.

Also, we have established certain repurchase agreements with a large financial institution. While scheduled loan repayments and maturing investments are relatively predictable, interest rates, general economic conditions and competition primarily influence deposit flows and early loan payments. Management places constant emphasis on the maintenance of adequate liquidity to meet conditions that might reasonably be expected to occur. Management believes it has established sufficient sources of funds to meet its anticipated liquidity needs. See Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors Risks Relating to Our Business .

As shown in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, operating activities provided \$30.3 million and used \$71.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, primarily due to changes in mortgage loans held-for-sale.

Investing activities resulted in a net use of funds of \$19.2 million and \$79.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, primarily due to purchases of investment securities and an increase in loans, partially offset by maturities and principal pay- downs in the investment securities portfolio. In addition, during the six months ended June 30, 2010, funds were provided from the sale of investment securities.

Financing activities provided \$190.3 million and \$164.3 million in funds for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, primarily as a result of an increase in customer deposits. In addition, during the six months ended June 30, 2010 funds were provided by the issuance of preferred stock. During the six months ended June 30, 2009, additional increases in funds were provided by proceeds from senior unsecured debt and were partially offset by the maturity of FHLB Atlanta advances.

#### **Forward-Looking Statements**

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf. Some of the disclosures in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including any statements preceded by, followed by or which include the words may, could, should, will, would, hope, might, anticipate, estimate, intend, plan, assume or similar expressions constitute forward-looking statements.

Table of Contents 103

belie

D 117 11

These forward-looking statements, implicitly and explicitly, include the assumptions underlying the statements and other information with respect to our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectations, anticipations, estimates, intentions, financial condition, results of operations, future performance and business, including our expectations and estimates with respect to our revenues, expenses, earnings, return on equity, return on assets, efficiency ratio, asset quality, the adequacy of our allowance for loan losses and other financial data and capital and performance ratios.

64

#### **Table of Contents**

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements are reasonable, these statements involve risks and uncertainties which are subject to change based on various important factors (some of which are beyond our control). Such forward-looking statements should, therefore, be considered in light of various important factors set forth from time to time in our reports and registration statements filed with the SEC. The following factors, among others, could cause our financial performance to differ materially from our goals, plans, objectives, intentions, expectations and other forward-looking statements: (1) the strength of the United States economy in general and the strength of the regional and local economies in which we conduct operations; (2) changes in local economic conditions in the markets in which we operate; (3) the continued weakening in the real estate values in the markets in which we operate; (4) the effects of, and changes in, trade, monetary and fiscal policies and laws, including interest rate policies of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System; (5) increases in FDIC deposit insurance premiums and assessments; (6) inflation or deflation and interest rate, market and monetary fluctuations; (7) the adequacy of our allowance for loan losses to cover actual losses and impact of credit risk exposures; (8) greater loan losses than historic levels and increased allowance for loan losses; (9) our timely development of new products and services in a changing environment, including the features, pricing and quality compared to the products and services of our competitors; (10) the willingness of users to substitute competitors products and services for our products and services; (11) changes in loan underwriting, credit review or loss reserve policies associated with economic conditions, examination conclusions, or regulatory developments; (12) the impact of changes in financial services policies, laws and regulations, including laws, regulations and policies concerning taxes, banking, securities and insurance, and the application thereof by regulatory bodies; (13) our ability to comply with any requirements imposed on us and Superior Bank by our regulators; (14) restrictions or limitations on our access to funds from Superior Bank; (15) changes in accounting policies, principles and guidelines applicable to us; (16) our focus on lending to small to mid-size community-based businesses, which may increase our credit risk; (17) our ability to resolve any regulatory, legal or judicial proceeding on acceptable terms and its effect on our financial condition or results of operations; (18) technological changes; (19) changes in consumer spending and savings habits; (20) the effect of natural or environmental disasters, such as, among other things, hurricanes and oil spills, in our geographic markets; (21) the continuing instability in the domestic and international capital markets; (22) the effects on our operations of policy initiatives or laws that have been and may continue to be introduced by the Presidential administration or Congress and related regulatory actions, including, but not limited to, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder; (23) our ability to successfully integrate the assets, liabilities, customers, systems and management we acquire or merge into our operations; (24) our ability to raise additional capital to fund growth plans or to meet regulatory requirements; and (25) other factors and information contained in reports and other filings we make with the SEC.

If one or more of the factors affecting our forward-looking information and statements proves incorrect, then our actual results, performance or achievements could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, forward-looking information and statements contained in this quarterly report. Therefore, we caution you not to place undue reliance on our forward-looking information and statements.

We do not intend to update our forward-looking information and statements, whether written or oral, to reflect change. All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified by these cautionary statements.

## ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The information shown under the caption Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Market Risk-Interest Rate Sensitivity included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in interest rates, exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices or credit quality.

## **Interest Rate Sensitivity**

Our primary market risk component is interest rate risk ( IRR ). We define interest rate risk as an adverse change in our net interest income ( NII ) or economic value of equity ( EVE ) due to changing interest rates. IRR results because changing interest rates affect the values of and the cash flows generated by our assets, liabilities, and off-balance sheet items in different ways.

## **Sensitivity Measurement**

Financial simulation models are the primary tools we use to measure interest rate risk exposures. By examining a range of hypothetical deterministic interest rate scenarios, these models provide management with information regarding the potential impact on NII and EVE caused by changes in interest rates.

The models are built to simulate the cash flows and accounting accruals generated by the financial instruments on our balance sheet, and for NII simulations, the cash flows generated by the new business we anticipate over a 12-month forecast horizon. Numerous assumptions are made in the modeling process, including balance sheet composition, the pricing, re-pricing and maturity characteristics of existing business and new business. Additionally, loan and investment prepayment, administered rate account elastisities and other option risks are considered as well as the uncertainty surrounding future customer behavior.

65

#### **Interest Rate Exposures**

Superior Bank s net interest income simulation model projects that net interest income over a 12-month horizon will increase on an annual basis by 3.1%, or approximately \$3.0 million, assuming an instantaneous and parallel increase in interest rates of 200 basis points. The following is a comparison of these measurements for the periods indicated:

	Change (in Basis Points)	ange (in Basis Points) Increase in Net			
in Interest Rates		June 30	0, 2010	<b>December 31, 2009</b>	
	(12-Month Projection)	Amount	Percent	Amount	Percent
			(Dollars in	thousands)	
+ 200 BP (1)		\$2,973	3.1%	\$2,200	2.3%
- 200 BP (2)		NCM	NCM	NCM	NCM

- (1) Results are within our asset and liability management policy.
- (2) Not considered meaningful in the current rate environment.

EVE is defined as the net present value of the balance sheet s cash flows or the residual value of future cash flows. While EVE does not represent actual market liquidation or replacement value, it is a useful tool for estimating our balance sheet earnings sensitivity to changes in interest rates over a longer time horizon. A higher EVE results in a greater earnings capacity. Superior Bank s EVE model projects that EVE will increase 7.50% and 12.6% assuming an instantaneous and parallel increase in interest rates of 100 and 200 basis points, respectively. Assuming an instantaneous and parallel decrease of 100 basis points, EVE is projected to decrease 2.4% (although such a decline is unlikely given the present low level of interest rates). The EVE shifts produced by these scenarios are within the limits of our asset and liability management policy. The following table sets forth Superior Bank s EVE limits as of June 30, 2010:

		Cha	nge
Change (in Basis Points) in Interest Rates	EVE	Amount	Percent
	(Dollars in	thousands)	
+ 200 BP	\$295,608	\$33,125	12.6%
+ 100 BP	282,172	19,686	7.5
0 BP	262,479		
- 100 BP	256,080	(6,404)	(2.4)

Both the net interest income and EVE simulations include assumptions regarding balances, asset prepayment speeds and interest rate relationships among balances that management believes to be reasonable for the various interest rate environments. Differences in actual occurrences from these assumptions, as well as non-parallel changes in the yield curve, may change our market risk exposure.

#### ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

#### **CEO and CFO Certification**

Appearing as exhibits to this report are Certifications of our Chief Executive Officer ( CEO ) and our Chief Financial Officer ( CFO ). The Certifications are required to be made by Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. This Item contains the information about the evaluation that is referred to in the Certifications, and the Certifications should be read in conjunction with the information set forth below in this Item 4 for a more complete

understanding of the Certifications.

## **Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures**

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is made known to the officers who certify our financial reports and to other members of our senior management and our Board of Directors.

Based on their evaluation as of June 30, 2010, our CEO and our CFO have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-l5(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported

66

#### **Table of Contents**

within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

All internal controls systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations and may not prevent or detect misstatements in our financial statements, including the possibility of circumvention or overriding of controls. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

# PART II. OTHER INFORMATION ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

While we are a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business, we believe that there are no proceedings threatened or pending against us at this time that will individually, or in the aggregate, materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. We believe that we have strong claims and defenses in each lawsuit in which we are involved. While we believe that we will prevail in each lawsuit, there can be no assurance that the outcome of the pending, or any future, litigation, either individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or our results of operations.

#### ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

## **Risks Relating To Our Business**

The current economic environment poses significant challenges for us and our industry and could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. We are operating in a challenging and uncertain economic environment, both nationally and in our local markets. Financial institutions continue to be affected by declines in the real estate market and constrained financial markets. Declines in the housing market beginning in 2008 and continuing into 2010, including falling home prices and increasing delinquencies, foreclosures and unemployment, have resulted in significant write-downs of asset values by many financial institutions, including us. Continued concerns over the stability of the financial markets and the economy have resulted in decreased lending by financial institutions to their clients and to each other. This market turmoil and tightening of credit has led to increased commercial and consumer credit quality issues, lack of customer confidence, increased market volatility and widespread reduction in general business activity. Many financial institutions have experienced decreased access to deposits and borrowings. The resulting economic pressure on consumers and businesses and the lack of confidence in the financial markets has had, and may continue to have, an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, a deepening national economic recession or further deterioration in local economic conditions in our market areas could cause losses that exceed our allowance for loan losses. We cannot predict when economic conditions are likely to improve. We may also face additional risks in connection with the current economic environment, including the following:

Economic conditions that negatively affect housing prices and the job market have caused, and may continue to cause, the credit quality of our loan portfolios to deteriorate, and that deterioration in credit quality has had, and could continue to have, a negative effect on our business.

Market developments may affect consumer confidence levels and may cause adverse changes in payment patterns, causing increases in delinquencies and default rates on loans and other credit facilities.

Market conditions can change rapidly in the current economic environment, and, if they do, the processes we use to estimate our allowance for loan losses and reserves may no longer be reliable.

The value of our securities portfolio may decline.

Our industry faces increased regulation, and compliance with such regulatory changes has increased our costs and the complexity of our compliance processes and may continue to do so.

Natural and environmental disasters, such as hurricanes or oil spills, have adversely affected and may continue to adversely affect the local economies in which we operate, with the potential for further deterioration in credit quality in those markets as well as a general reduction in business activity.

67

#### **Table of Contents**

As these conditions or similar ones continue to exist or worsen, we could experience continuing or increased adverse effects on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our allowance for loan losses may not be adequate to cover actual losses. If our allowance for loan losses is not sufficient to cover our actual loan losses, our earnings could decrease. The determination of the adequacy of our allowance for loan losses is based on management s analysis of the credit quality of the loan portfolio, which is reviewed regularly. Management maintains an allowance for loan losses based upon, among other things:

trends in volume;

effects of changes in credit concentrations;

levels of and trends in delinquencies, classified loans and non-performing assets;

levels of and trends in charge-offs and recoveries;

changes in lending policies and underwriting guidelines;

national and local economic trends and conditions; and

mergers and acquisitions.

Based on those factors, management makes various assumptions and judgments about the ultimate collectability of our loan portfolios. The determination of the appropriate level of the allowance for loan losses inherently involves a high degree of subjectivity and requires management to make significant estimates of current credit risks and future trends, all of which may undergo material changes. In addition, federal regulators periodically review our allowance for loan losses and may require us to increase our allowance or recognize further loan charge-offs, based on judgments different than those of our management. Higher charge-off rates or an increase in our allowance for loan losses, separately or in combination, may have a material adverse effect on our capital position and our overall financial performance and may increase our cost of funds. The amount of future loan losses may be affected by changes in economic, operating and other conditions, which may be beyond our control, and these losses may exceed current estimates. While we believe that our allowance for loan losses is adequate to cover current losses, we cannot guarantee that we will not need to increase our allowance for loan losses or that regulators will not require an increase in our allowance. Either of these occurrences could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Further deterioration of local economic conditions where we operate could have a continuing negative effect on us. Our success depends significantly on the general economic conditions of the geographic markets we serve in Alabama and Florida. The local economic conditions in these areas significantly affect our commercial, real estate and construction loan activity, the ability of borrowers to repay these loans, and the value of the collateral securing these loans. There can be no assurance that the economic conditions that have adversely affected the financial services industry, and the capital, credit and real estate markets generally, will improve in the near term, in which case we could continue to experience losses and write-downs of assets, and could face increased capital and liquidity constraints or other business challenges. A continuing deterioration in economic conditions could result in the following consequences, among others, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business:

loan delinquencies may increase;

problem assets and foreclosures may increase;

demand for our products and services may decline; and

collateral for loans we make, especially loans secured by real estate, may decline in value, in turn reducing a customer s borrowing power, and reducing the value of assets and collateral associated with our loans.

Liquidity needs could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. Superior Bank s primary sources of funds are customer deposits, principal and interest payments on loans, federal funds sold and maturities and sales of investment securities. Scheduled loan repayments are subject to the ability of borrowers to repay the loans. The ability of borrowers to repay loans can be adversely affected by a number of factors outside of our control, including changes in economic conditions, adverse trends or events affecting business industry groups, reductions in real estate values or markets, business closings or lay-offs, inclement weather, natural

68

#### **Table of Contents**

or environmental disasters and international instability. Deposit levels and early loan payments may be affected by a number of factors, including changes in prevailing interest rates, general economic conditions and competition. In addition, we have access to other sources of liquidity, including purchased funds from several regional financial institutions, the Federal Reserve Discount Window, and may borrow from the Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB). While we believe that these sources are currently adequate, there can be no assurance these sources will be sufficient to meet future liquidity demands, particularly if regulatory restrictions should limit their availability. If our access to these sources of liquidity is diminished or only available on unfavorable terms, our overall liquidity likely would be adversely affected.

Changes in monetary policy and interest rates could adversely affect our profitability. Our results of operations are affected by decisions of monetary authorities, particularly the Federal Reserve. Our profitability depends to a significant extent on our net interest income. Net interest income is the difference between income we receive from interest-earning assets and interest we pay to fund those assets. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors that are beyond our control, including general economic conditions and the policies of various governmental and regulatory agencies. Changes in monetary policy, including changes in interest rates, could affect not only the interest we receive on loans and securities and the interest we pay on deposits and borrowings, but also our ability to originate loans and obtain deposits and the average duration of our mortgage-backed securities portfolio.

Our net interest income will be adversely affected if market interest rates change such that the interest we pay on deposits and borrowings increases faster than the interest earned on loans and investments. Changes in interest rates could also adversely affect some of our noninterest income sources. For example, if mortgage interest rates increase, the demand for residential mortgage loans will likely decrease, which will have an adverse effect on our mortgage loan fee income. Declines in security values could further reduce our investment income.

In light of changing conditions in the national economy and in the financial markets, particularly the uncertain economic environment, the continuing threat of terrorist acts and the current military operations in the Middle East, we cannot predict possible future changes in interest rates, which may negatively affect our deposit levels, our loan demand and our business and earnings. Furthermore, the actions of the United States and other governments in response to ongoing economic crises may result in currency fluctuations, exchange controls, market disruption and other adverse effects.

Non-performing assets take significant time to resolve and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. Non-performing assets adversely affect our net earnings in various ways. We expect to continue to have a provision for loan losses relating to non-performing loans that is higher than our historical experience. We generally do not record interest income on non-performing loans or other real estate owned, thereby reducing our earnings, while our loan administration costs are higher for non-performing loans. When we take collateral in foreclosures and similar proceedings, we are required to mark the related asset to the then-fair market value of the collateral, which may ultimately result in a loss. An increase in the level of non-performing assets increases our risk profile and may affect the capital levels our regulators believe are appropriate. While we reduce problem assets through loan sales, workouts, restructurings and otherwise, decreases in the value of the underlying collateral, or in these borrowers performance or financial condition, whether or not due to economic and market conditions beyond our control, could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the resolution of non-performing assets requires significant commitments of time from management, which may reduce the time available for the performance of their other responsibilities. There can be no assurance that we will not experience future increases in non-performing assets.

The failures of other financial institutions could adversely affect us. Our ability to engage in routine funding transactions could be adversely affected by the actions and potential failures of other financial institutions. Financial institutions are interrelated as a result of trading, clearing, counterparty and other relationships. As a result, defaults by, or even rumors or concerns about, one or more financial institutions with which we do business, or the financial services industry generally, have led to market-wide liquidity problems and could lead to losses or defaults by us or by other institutions. Many of these transactions expose us to credit risk in the event of default by our counterparty or client. In addition, failures of other financial institutions, and in particular, the failure of community banks, could damage our reputation and credibility. Any such losses or damage to our reputation could materially and adversely

affect our financial condition and results of operations. Further, we could experience increases in deposits and assets as a result of other financial institution difficulties or failure, which could increase the capital we need to support growth.

An interruption or breach in security with respect to our information systems, as well as information systems of our outsourced service providers, could have a material adverse effect on us. We rely heavily on communications and information systems to conduct our business. Any failure, interruption or breach in security with respect to our information systems, as well as information systems of our outsourced service providers, could damage our reputation, result in a loss of client business, subject us to additional regulatory scrutiny, or expose us to civil litigation, any of which could result in failures or disruptions in our client relationship management, general ledger,

69

#### **Table of Contents**

deposit, loan and other systems, resulting in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We incurred a net loss in our last fiscal year and for the first six months of the current fiscal year and losses may continue in the future. We incurred a net loss of \$19.9 million for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, and have incurred a net loss of \$59.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010. The loss for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 was primarily due to the increases in the provision for loan losses, foreclosure losses and other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI) of investment securities we hold, as well as an increase in our FDIC assessment. The loss for the six months ended June 30, 2010 was primarily due to an increase of \$50 million in the provision for loan losses, foreclosure losses, and salaries and benefits increases. These losses may continue in the future, and no assurance can be given as to when we may return to profitability or the level of any profitability. A significant portion of our loan portfolio is secured by real estate, and events that negatively affect the real estate market could hurt our business. As of June 30, 2010, approximately 90.3% of our loans were secured by real estate mortgages. The real estate collateral for these loans provides an alternate source of repayment in the event of default by the borrower and may deteriorate in value over the life of the loan. A further weakening of the real estate market in our market areas could result in an increase in the number of borrowers who default on their loans and a reduction in the value of the collateral. Further, the value of the collateral underlying a given loan, and the realizable value of such collateral in a foreclosure sale, likely will be negatively affected by the continuing downturn in the real estate market. Thus, we may not be able to realize the full value of underlying collateral securing some of our loans, particularly those secured by real estate. If we are not able to realize the full value of underlying collateral in the event of a loan default, there could be an adverse effect our business, financial condition, and results of operations and the price of our securities. Acts of nature, including hurricanes, tornados, earthquakes, fires and floods, or environmental disasters such as oil spills, which may cause uninsured damage and other loss of value to real estate that secures these loans, may also negatively affect our financial condition.

An increase in loan prepayments may adversely affect our profitability. The rate at which borrowers prepay loans is dependent on a number of factors outside our control, including changes in market interest rates, conditions in the housing and financial markets and general economic conditions. We cannot always accurately predict prepayment rates. If the prepayment rates with respect to our loans are greater than we anticipate, there may be a negative impact on our profitability because we may not be able to reinvest prepayment proceeds at rates comparable to those we received on the prepaid loans, particularly in a time of falling interest rates.

Events in our geographic markets could adversely affect us. Our business is concentrated in six geographic regions in Alabama and Florida. Any adverse changes in market or economic conditions in Alabama and Florida may increase the risk that our customers will be unable to make their loan payments. In addition, the market value of the real estate securing loans as collateral could be adversely affected by unfavorable changes in local market conditions and general economic conditions. Any period of increased payment delinquencies, foreclosures or losses caused by adverse market or economic conditions in general or in our markets in Alabama and Florida, in particular, could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

With most of our loans concentrated in a small number of markets, further declines in local economic conditions could adversely affect the values of our real estate collateral. Thus, a decline in local economic conditions may have a greater effect on our earnings and capital than on the earnings and capital of larger financial institutions whose real estate loan portfolios are more geographically diverse.

In addition, natural or environmental disasters, such as hurricanes, tornados and oil spills, in our markets could adversely affect our business. The occurrence of such natural disasters in our markets could result in a decline in the value or destruction of mortgaged properties and in an increase in the risk of delinquencies, foreclosures or losses on these loans and may impact our customers—ability to repay loans.

We face substantial competition. There are numerous competitors in our geographic markets, including national, regional and local banks and thrifts and other financial services businesses, some of which have substantially greater resources, higher brand visibility and a wider geographic presence than we have. Some of these competitors may offer a greater range of services, more favorable pricing and greater customer convenience than we are able to. In addition, in some of our markets, there are a significant number of new banks and other financial institutions that have opened

in the recent past or are expected to open in the near future, and such new competitors may also seek to exploit our markets and customer base. If we are unable to maintain and grow our market share in the face of such competition, our results of operations will be adversely affected.

We are subject to extensive regulation. Our operations are subject to regulation and examination by the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS) and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). We are also subject to applicable regulations of the FHLB. Regulation by these entities is intended primarily for the protection of our depositors and the deposit insurance fund and not for the benefit of our stockholders. We may incur substantial costs in complying with such regulations, and our failure to comply with them may

70

#### **Table of Contents**

expose us to substantial penalties or regulatory enforcement action, which may include requirements or limitations of varying degrees of severity, including, among other things, restrictions on our ability to develop any new business, as well as restrictions on our existing business, and requirements that we raise additional capital and/or dispose of certain assets and liabilities within a prescribed period of time, or both. The terms of any such enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations and the value of our common stock.

In June 2010, the OTS imposed certain restrictions and requirements on us and Superior Bank, including, among others: (1) Superior Bank may not pay any dividends to us without the prior approval of the OTS and is subject to certain lending restrictions, brokered deposit restrictions and certain liquidity planning and reporting requirements; (2) we must notify the OTS of any proposed addition to our Board, the employment of any senior executive officer or changes in responsibilities of any senior executive officer; (3)we may not make any golden parachute payment, except as permitted by law; (4) we may not renew, extend or revise any compensation or benefits of any director or officer without prior OTS approval; and (5) we may not enter into any third party contracts outside the normal course of business without prior written approval of the OTS. Additional restrictions and/or requirements may be imposed in the future by the OTS.

In addition, we are subject to numerous consumer protection laws and other laws relating to the operation of financial institutions. Our failure to comply with such laws could expose us to liability, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Recently enacted financial reform legislation will, among other things, tighten capital standards, create a new Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and result in new regulations that are expected to increase our costs of operations. On July 21, 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the Dodd-Frank Act ) was signed into law. This new law will significantly change the current bank regulatory structure and affect the lending, deposit, investment, trading and operating activities of financial institutions and their holding companies. The Dodd-Frank Act requires various federal agencies to adopt a broad range of new implementing rules and regulations and to prepare numerous studies and reports for Congress. The federal agencies are given significant discretion in drafting the implementing rules and regulations, and consequently, many of the details and much of the impact of the Dodd-Frank Act may not be known for many months or years.

The Dodd-Frank Act will eliminate the OTS, our current federal regulator, one year from the enactment of the law (unless extended). As a result, the Comptroller of the Currency, the primary federal regulator for national banks, will become the primary federal regulator of Superior Bank and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the Federal Reserve ) will have exclusive authority to regulate all thrift holding companies that were formerly regulated by the OTS, including us.

In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act will eliminate the federal prohibitions on paying interest on demand deposits effective one year after the date of its enactment, thus allowing businesses to have interest bearing checking accounts. Depending on competitive responses, this significant change to existing law could have an adverse impact on our interest expense.

Among the many requirements in the Dodd-Frank Act for new banking regulations is a requirement for new capital regulations to be adopted within 18 months. These regulations must be at least as stringent as, and may call for higher levels of capital than, current regulations. Generally, trust preferred securities will no longer be eligible as Tier 1 capital, but our currently outstanding trust preferred securities will be grandfathered.

The Dodd-Frank Act also broadens the base for FDIC insurance assessments. Assessments will now be based on the average consolidated total assets less tangible equity capital of a financial institution. The Dodd-Frank Act permanently increases the maximum amount of deposit insurance for banks, savings institutions and credit unions to \$250,000 per depositor. Non-interest bearing transaction accounts have unlimited deposit insurance through December 31, 2013.

The Dodd-Frank Act will require publicly traded companies to give stockholders a non-binding vote on executive compensation and golden parachute payments. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act authorizes the Securities and Exchange Commission to promulgate rules that would allow stockholders to nominate their own candidates using a company s proxy materials and directs the federal banking regulators to issue rules prohibiting incentive compensation

that encourages inappropriate risks.

The Dodd-Frank Act creates a new Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection with broad powers to supervise and enforce consumer protection laws. The Bureau will have broad rule-making authority for a wide range of consumer protection laws that apply to all banks, including the authority to prohibit unfair, deceptive or abusive acts and practices. The Bureau will have examination and enforcement authority over all banks with more than \$10 billion in assets. Savings institutions with less than \$10 billion in assets will continue to be examined for compliance with consumer laws by their primary bank regulator.

71

#### **Table of Contents**

Many aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act are subject to rulemaking and will take effect over several years, making it difficult to anticipate the overall financial impact on us. However, compliance with this new law and its implementing regulations clearly will result in some additional operating and compliance costs that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may require additional capital to fund our growth plans and to meet regulatory requirements. We are required by federal regulatory authorities to maintain adequate levels of capital to support our operations. Our business strategy includes the expansion of our business through the development of new locations and through the acquisition of other financial institutions and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, complementary businesses as appropriate opportunities arise. In order to finance such growth and to maintain required regulatory capital levels, we may require additional capital in the future. Our ability to raise additional capital, if needed, will depend on conditions in the capital markets at that time, which are outside of our control, and on our financial performance. Accordingly, we may not be able to raise additional capital, if needed, on favorable economic terms, or other terms acceptable to us. If we cannot raise additional capital when needed, our ability to maintain or expand our operations, our ability to operate without additional regulatory or other restrictions, and our operating results, could be materially adversely affected. We are dependent upon the services of our management team. Our operations and strategy are directed by our senior management team, most of whom have joined Superior Bancorp since January 2005. Any loss of the services of members of our management team could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and our ability to implement our business strategy.

Additional regulatory requirements especially those imposed under ARRA, EESA or other legislation intended to strengthen the U.S. financial system, could adversely affect us. Recent government efforts to strengthen the U.S. financial system, including the implementation of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act ( ARRA ), the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act ( EESA ), the Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program ( TLGP ) and special assessments imposed by the FDIC, subject us, to the extent applicable, to additional regulatory fees, corporate governance requirements, restrictions on executive compensation, restrictions on declaring or paying dividends, restrictions on stock repurchases, limits on executive compensation tax deductions and prohibitions against golden parachute payments. These fees, requirements and restrictions, as well as any others that may be imposed in the future, may have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The imposition of certain restrictions on our executive compensation as a result of our decision to participate in the CPP may have material adverse effects on our business and results of operations. As a result of our election to participate in the CPP, we have adopted the Treasury Department s standards for executive compensation and corporate governance for the period during which the Treasury Department holds any of our equity issued under the CPP. These standards generally apply to our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and the three next most highly compensated executive officers, referred to collectively as the senior executive officers, and, in the case of some standards, to other of our employees as well. The standards include: (i) ensuring that incentive compensation plans and arrangements do not encourage unnecessary and excessive risks that threaten the value of us and Superior Bank, (ii) prohibiting a bonus payment to any of the five most highly compensated employees unless paid in the form of long-term restricted stock, (iii) requiring a clawback of any bonus or incentive compensation paid to a senior executive officer or any of the 20 next most highly compensation employees based on statements of earnings, gains or other criteria that are later proven to be materially inaccurate, (iv) prohibiting golden parachute payments to a senior executive officer or any of the five next most highly compensated employees, (v) prohibiting reimbursement or gross-up of taxes paid with respect to compensation for any of our senior executive officers or the 20 next most highly compensated employees, and (vi) agreeing not to deduct, for tax purposes, compensation paid to an employee in excess of \$500,000. These restrictions may place us at a competitive disadvantage in attracting and retaining management.

Higher FDIC deposit insurance premiums and assessments could adversely affect our financial condition. Recent insured institution failures, as well as deterioration in banking and economic conditions, have significantly increased the loss provisions of the FDIC, resulting in a decline to historical lows in the designated reserve ratio. The FDIC expects a higher rate of insured institution failures in the next few years. The FDIC has substantially increased its premium assessments, and may raise the premiums even higher in the future. We expect to pay significantly higher

FDIC premiums in the future. Additional special assessments may be imposed by the FDIC for future periods. Participants in the TLGP for noninterest-bearing transaction deposit accounts pay additional annual assessments to the FDIC. The FDIC required all insured institutions to prepay insurance premiums through 2012 in order to recapitalize the Deposit Insurance Fund. In the case of Superior Bank, this prepayment aggregated \$15.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2009. Future increases in FDIC insurance premiums would likely have an adverse effect on the operating expenses and results of operations of Superior Bank. Management cannot predict what insurance assessment rates will be in the future.

72

#### **Table of Contents**

Changes in accounting policies and practices, as may be adopted by regulatory agencies, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or other authoritative bodies, could materially affect our reported financial condition and results of operations. Our accounting policies and methods are fundamental to how we record and report our financial condition and results of operations. From time to time, regulatory agencies, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, and other authoritative bodies change the financial accounting and reporting standards that govern the preparation of our financial statements. These changes may be hard to predict and can materially affect how we record and report our financial condition and results of operations.

The accuracy of our financial statements and related disclosures could be affected because we are exposed to conditions or assumptions different from the judgments, assumptions or estimates used in our critical accounting policies. The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires us to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Our critical accounting policies, which we summarize in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, describe those significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements that we consider critical because they require judgments, assumptions and estimates about the future that materially affect our financial disclosures. For example, material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change underlie the determination of the allowance for losses on loans, including valuation allowances for impaired loans, and the valuation of real estate acquired in connection with foreclosures or in satisfaction of loans. As a result, if future events differ significantly from the judgments, assumptions and estimates in our critical accounting policies, those events or assumptions could have a material impact on our audited consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. Future losses could result in the recording of a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets ( DTA ) and impair our ability to recover our deferred tax assets. We currently recognize DTA aggregating \$58.2 million, net a valuation allowance of \$23.2 million. The recognition of DTA is based upon management s judgment that realization of the asset is more likely than not. Management s judgment is based on estimates concerning various future events and uncertainties, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, the timing and amount of future income earned by our subsidiaries and the implementation of various tax planning strategies to maximize realization of the DTA. As a result of book losses incurred in 2009 and 2008, we are in a three-year-cumulative loss position at December 31, 2009, and there are no taxes paid in prior years that are available for the carryback period. A cumulative loss position is considered significant negative evidence in assessing the realizability of a DTA. Our management has concluded that sufficient positive evidence exists to overcome this negative evidence. See Note 10 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the guarter ended June 30, 2010 and Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009. The amount of our DTA considered realizable, however, could be significantly reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are significantly lower than forecasted due to further decreases in market conditions or the economy, which could produce additional credit losses within our loan and investment portfolios. We evaluate quarterly the realizability of our net DTA and, if necessary, adjust our valuation allowance accordingly.

Issuances or sales of common stock or other equity securities could result in an ownership change as defined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If an ownership change were to occur, our ability to fully utilize a significant portion of our U.S. federal and state tax net operating losses and certain built-in losses that have not been recognized for tax purposes could be impaired as a result of the operation of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Our ability to use certain realized net operating losses and unrealized built-in losses to offset future taxable income may be significantly limited if we experience an ownership change as defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code ). An ownership change under Section 382 generally occurs when a change in the aggregate percentage ownership of the stock of the corporation held by five percent stockholders increases by more than fifty percentage points over a rolling three-year period. A corporation experiencing an ownership change generally is subject to an annual limitation on its utilization of pre-change losses and certain post-change recognized built-in losses equal to the value of the stock of the corporation immediately before the ownership change, multiplied by the long-term tax-exempt rate (subject to certain adjustments). The annual limitation is increased each year to the extent that there is

an unused limitation in a prior year. Since U.S. federal net operating losses generally may be carried forward for up to 20 years, the annual limitation also effectively provides a cap on the cumulative amount of pre-change losses and certain post-change recognized built-in losses that may be utilized. Pre-change losses and certain post-change recognized built-in losses in excess of the cap are effectively unable to be used to reduce future taxable income. In some circumstances, issuances or sales of our stock (including any common stock or other equity issuances or debt-for-equity exchanges and certain transactions involving our stock that are outside of our control) could result in an ownership change under Section 382.

If an ownership change under Section 382 were to occur, the value of our net operating losses and a portion of the net unrealized built-in losses would be impaired which could result in a significant increase in our future tax liability and could negatively affect our financial condition and operations. Additionally, this would require us to increase our DTA valuation allowance, as discussed above.

73

#### **Table of Contents**

Our financial condition and outlook may be adversely affected by damage to our reputation. Our financial condition and outlook is highly dependent upon perceptions of our business practices and reputation. Our ability to attract and retain customers and employees could be adversely affected if our reputation is damaged. Negative public opinion could result from our actual or alleged conduct in any number of activities, including lending practices, corporate governance, regulatory compliance, mergers and acquisitions, or inappropriate disclosure or inadequate protection of customer information, as well as from actions taken by government regulators and community organizations in response to that conduct. Damage to our reputation could give rise to legal risks, which, in turn, could increase the size and number of litigation claims and damages asserted or subject us to enforcement actions, fines and penalties and cause us to incur related costs and expenses. Additionally, reputational damage could result in a loss of deposits, thereby reducing liquidity and reducing our ability to leverage our capital into earnings.

We will realize additional future losses if the proceeds we receive upon liquidation of assets are less than the carrying value of such assets. We may dispose of non-performing assets. We may also sell assets in the future that are not currently identified as non-performing assets. We will realize additional future losses if the proceeds we receive upon dispositions of assets are less than the recorded carrying value of such assets. Furthermore, if market conditions continue to decline, the magnitude of losses we may realize upon the disposition of assets may increase, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we defer payments of interest on our outstanding junior subordinated debentures or if certain defaults relating to those debentures occur, we will be prohibited from declaring or paying dividends or distributions on, and from making liquidation payments with respect to, our preferred and common stock. At June 30, 2010, we had outstanding \$118.2 million aggregate principal amount of junior subordinated debentures issued in connection with the sale of trust preferred securities through statutory business trusts. We have unconditionally guaranteed these trust preferred securities. There are currently five separate series of these junior subordinated debentures outstanding, each series having been issued under a separate indenture and with a separate guarantee. Each of these indentures, together with the related guarantee, prohibits us, subject to limited exceptions, from declaring or paying any dividends or distributions on, or redeeming, repurchasing, acquiring or making any liquidation payments with respect to, any of our capital stock at any time when (i) there shall have occurred and be continuing an event of default under such indenture or any event, act or condition that with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute an event of default under such indenture; (ii) we are in default with respect to payment of any obligations under such guarantee; or (iii) we have deferred payment of interest on the junior subordinated debentures outstanding under that indenture. In that regard, we are entitled, at our option but subject to certain conditions, to defer payments of interest on the junior subordinated debentures of each series from time to time for up to five years.

Events of default under the indentures generally consist of our failure to pay interest on the junior debentures securities under certain circumstances, our failure to pay any principal of or premium on such junior debentures securities when due, our failure to comply with certain covenants under the indenture, and certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or liquidation relating to us or Superior Bank.

As a result of these provisions, if we were to elect to defer payments of interest on any series of junior subordinated debentures, or if any of the other events described in clause (i) or (ii) of the first paragraph of this risk factor were to occur, we would be prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends on our preferred and common stock, from repurchasing or otherwise acquiring any such common stock, and from making any payments to holders of our preferred and common stock in the event of our liquidation, which would likely have a material adverse effect on the market value of our common stock.

#### Risks Related To an Investment in Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile due to limited trading volume and general market conditions. Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market. However, the average daily trading volume in our common stock is relatively small, typically less than 90,000 shares per day and sometimes significantly less. Trades involving a relatively small number of shares may have a substantial effect on the market price of our common stock, and it may be difficult for investors to acquire or dispose of large blocks of stock without significantly affecting the market price. In addition, market fluctuations, industry factors, general economic conditions and political events, including economic slowdowns or recessions, interest rate changes or market trends, also could cause our stock price to decrease

regardless of our results of operations. Stock prices of thrift holding companies, such as ours, have been negatively affected by the current condition of the financial markets.

74

#### **Table of Contents**

Our common stock is equity and is subordinate to our existing and future indebtedness and preferred stock. Shares of common stock are equity interests in us and are not indebtedness. As such, shares of common stock will rank junior to all of our indebtedness, debentures and preferred stock and to other non-equity claims against us and our assets available to satisfy claims against us, including in any liquidation or similar proceeding. Additionally, holders of our common stock are subject to the prior dividend and liquidation rights of holders of our outstanding preferred stock, debentures and the holders of our trust preferred securities. As of June 30, 2010, we had \$118.2 million of subordinated debentures issued in connection with trust preferred securities, including \$69,100,000 issued in connection with the trust preferred securities held by the U.S. Treasury. Payments of the principal and interest on the trust preferred securities are unconditionally guaranteed by us. Upon any liquidation, lenders and holders of our debt securities and preferred stock would receive distributions of our available assets prior to holders of our common stock. Our ability to pay dividends and to repurchase shares of common stock is limited. We do not currently pay dividends on our common stock. Our board of directors has agreed to obtain the written consent of the OTS prior to the declaring or paying of any dividends. This restriction will remain in effect until such time as the OTS modifies, terminates, or otherwise suspends the restriction. In addition, our ability to declare or pay dividends on our common stock is restricted as described below.

Our ability to pay dividends is limited by regulatory requirements and the need to maintain sufficient consolidated capital to meet the capital needs of our business, including capital needs related to future growth. Our primary source of income is the payment of dividends from Superior Bank to us. Superior Bank, in turn, is likewise subject to regulatory requirements that currently restrict its ability to pay such dividends to us and by the need to maintain sufficient capital for its operations and obligations. In the event Superior Bank is unable to pay dividends to us for an extended period of time, we may not be able to service our debt, pay our obligations as they become due, or pay dividends on our common stock. We are obligated, subject to regulatory limitations, to make periodic distributions on our trust preferred securities, subordinated debentures and preferred stock, which reduces the income that might otherwise be available to pay dividends on our common stock. Thus, there can be no assurance that we will pay dividends to our common stockholders, no assurance as to the amount or timing of any such dividends, and no assurance that such dividends, if and when paid, will be maintained, at the same level or at all, in future periods. At June 30, 2010, we had \$118.2 million in liquidation value amount of outstanding subordinated debentures (and the related trust preferred securities). An inability of Superior Bank to pay cash dividends to us could affect our future ability to make interest payments on our subordinated debentures (and the related trust preferred securities). We have the right to defer distributions on the subordinated debentures (and the related trust preferred securities) for up to five years, during which time no dividends may be paid to holders of our common stock. If we were to default in payments due with respect to the subordinated debentures or otherwise defer payments under the terms of the subordinated debentures, we would be prohibited from declaring or paying dividends on our common stock.

The exercise of our warrants would dilute existing stockholders—ownership interest. In connection with the sale of certain preferred securities and subordinated notes, we granted warrants to purchase shares of our common stock, including a warrant to initially purchase 1,923,792 shares of common stock at an initial exercise price of \$5.38 to the Treasury Department (the Treasury Warrant), a warrant to initially purchase 1,000,000 shares of common stock at an initial exercise price of \$7.53 to the purchaser of subordinated notes (the Debt Warrant), warrants to initially purchase 792,859 shares of common stock at an initial exercise price of \$3.50 to the purchasers of our Series B Preferred Stock and warrants to initially purchase 21,429 shares of common stock at \$3.50 to the purchasers of our Series C Preferred Stock. These warrants are subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. If any warrant holder exercises its warrant that would result in dilution to the ownership interest of our existing stockholders and dilute the earnings per share of our common stock.

We may issue additional shares of common stock or equity derivative securities that will dilute the percentage ownership interest of existing stockholders and may dilute the book value per share of our common stock. Subject to applicable NASDAQ rules, our board generally has the authority, without action by or vote of our stockholders, to issue all or part of any authorized but unissued shares of common stock for any corporate purpose, including issuance of equity-based incentives under or outside of our equity compensation plans. We may seek additional equity capital in the future as we develop our business and expand our operations. In addition, we may use our common stock to

acquire other financial institution and related businesses subject to applicable regulatory requirements. Any issuance of additional shares of common stock or equity derivative securities will dilute the percentage ownership interest of our existing stockholders and may dilute the book value per share of our common stock. In addition, new investors may also have rights, preferences and privileges that are senior to our common stockholders.

## ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

During the second quarter, Cambridge Savings Bank ( Cambridge ) exchanged \$3.5 million of trust preferred securities issued by our wholly owned unconsolidated subsidiary, Superior Capital Trust I, for 849,156 shares of our common stock, \$0.001 par value per share.

75

#### **Table of Contents**

The terms of the exchange were previously reported in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 22, 2010. Exemption from registration is claimed under Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933. The common stock which is being issued is being exchanged with existing security holders exclusively, and no commission or other remuneration is being paid or given directly or indirectly for soliciting such exchange.

Between June 22, 2010 and June 30, 2010, we sold \$11.1 million in liquidation amount of our Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (the Series B Preferred Stock) and \$0.3 million in liquidation amount of our Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (Series C Preferred Stock) for total cash consideration of \$1.4 million. There were no underwriting discounts or commissions in connection with the transactions. The terms of the Series B Preferred Stock were disclosed in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 6, 2010. The Series C Preferred Stock is mandatorily convertible upon the earlier of December 15, 2010 or the completion of additional capital financing by the Company, but is not voluntarily convertible by the holder prior to such time. The initial conversion rate of the Series C Preferred Stock is the market price on the trading day immediately preceding the issuance of the stock (the

Market Price ), as determined in accordance with NASDAQ listing rules. If approval of our stockholders is obtained prior to conversion, the conversion rate will be the lower of (a) the Market Price or (b) 83% of the offering price of the additional financing or, if no additional financing occurs, the 10-day volume-weighted trailing average of closing prices of our common stock prior to December 15, 2010. We issued to the purchasers of our convertible preferred stock issued in June 2010 five-year warrants to purchase approximately 100,002 shares in the aggregate of our common stock at an exercise price of \$3.50 per share. The issuance and sale of the convertible preferred stock and warrants is exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 (the Act ) in reliance on the exemptions from the registration requirement of the Act for transactions not involving any public offering pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated pursuant to the Act. The issuance and sale of the preferred stock and warrants qualifies for these exemptions because the offering was made to a limited number of sophisticated investors who were accredited investors within the meaning of Regulation D.

#### ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

#### **ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION**

None.

#### **ITEM 6. EXHIBITS**

- (a) Exhibit:
- 3 Certificate of Designation of Preferences and Rights of Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock
- 31.1 Certification of principal executive officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
- 31.2 Certification of principal financial officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
- 32.1 Certification of principal executive officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
- 32.2 Certification of principal financial officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

76

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 16, 2010 By: /s/ C. Stanley Bailey

C. Stanley Bailey Chief Executive Officer

Date: August 16, 2010 By: /s/ James A. White

James A. White Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

77